#### ASHER LOUIS RIVNER

The Impact of Selection Method on Counter-Majoritarian Behavior by State Supreme Courts

(Under the Direction of STEFANIE LINDQUIST)

This thesis presents a preliminary systematic examination of the effect that selection method and term length have on a state supreme court justice's decision to overturn legislation through the exercise of judicial review. It examines all judicial review cases heard between 1995-1999 by the Alabama, Georgia, Michigan, Tennessee, Wisconsin, Pennsylvania, Kansas, New Jersey, Iowa, New York, and South Carolina supreme courts. This study produced statistically significant results indicating that term length and selection method both play a role in judicial decision making. It also found that term length has a greater influence on the decision making of elected justices than on appointed justices. It reinforces the importance of the theoretical debate amongst judicial scholars over what role a non-elected body should play in a democratic system. These results also suggest a new avenue for judicial politics scholars to pursue in future research.

INDEX WORDS: Judicial review, State supreme courts, Appelate Court, Judicial, Judicial selection, State court, Counter-majoritarian,

# THE IMPACT OF SELECTION METHOD ON COUNTER-MAJORITARIAN BEHAVIOR BY STATE SUPREME COURTS

by

# ASHER LOUIS RIVNER

A.B., The University of Georgia, 2001

A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of The University of Georgia in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree

MASTER OF ARTS

ATHENS, GEORGIA

2001

© 2001

Asher Louis Rivner

All Rights Reserved

# THE IMPACT OF SELECTION METHOD ON COUNTER- MAJORITARIAN BEHAVIOR BY STATE SUPREME COURTS

by

# ASHER LOUIS RIVNER

Approved:

Major Professor: Stefanie Lindquist

Committee: Arnold Fleischmann

Jeff Yates

Electronic Version Approved:

Gordhan L. Patel Dean of the Graduate School The University of Georgia August 2001

# **DEDICATION**

I would like to dedicate this thesis to my Mom and Dad. Their love, support and confidence in me is what has allowed me to be able to complete this work. They taught me never to do less than my best, and I hope this thesis makes them proud.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would first like to thank my major professor Dr. Stefanie Lindquist. She has been a teacher, a mentor, and a friend to me, and I feel privileged to have been able to learn from someone whom I truly respect and look up to. Dr. L. is both a scholar and an educator, and her insights were priceless. I would like to thank Dr. Arnie Fleischman and Dr. Jeff Yates, my thesis committee, for their guidance. I would also like to thank Dr. Eugene Miller, my Honors Program advisor, for convincing me to sign up for the Masters program Freshman year and for the advice he has given me.

I would like to thank my family, especially my Mom and Dad, for constantly reminding me to finish my thesis. My brother Harold, although only twelve, was an excellent research assistant, and his help was instrumental to this project. Josh and Peter have also been a huge help.

Last but not least, I would like to thank the University of Georgia Political Science Department for the education that I have received during the previous four years. It would be impossible for me to thank all the excellent people in this department who have helped me during my college career. I feel extremely grateful for the world class education and opportunities that I have received.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
ACKNOWL	EDGMENTS	v
CHAPTER		
1	INTRODUCTION	1
2	PREVIOUS APPROACHES TO STUDYING STATE COURT	
	BEHAVIOR	4
	A. Institutional Effects on Judicial Voting Behavior	4
	B. The Integrated Case-Related Model of Judicial	
	Decision-Making	7
	C. Judicial Selection in the States	11
3	A REVISED INTEGRATED MODEL OF JUDICIAL	
	DECISION-MAKING: RESEARCH HYPOTHESES	14
4	DATA AND METHODS	20
	A. Scope	20
	B. Dependent Variable	22
	C. Descriptive Statistics	24
	D. Methods	27
5	RESULTS AND ANALYSIS	28
	A. Results	28
	B. Discussion	31
REFERENC	ES	36
APPENDIX.		40
A C	ASE LIST	40

#### CHAPTER 1

#### INTRODUCTION

Legal scholars have long debated the proper role of judicial review in democratic governance. The concept of judicial review seems contrary to the majoritarian basis of democracy, especially in a federal system where judges are appointed for life and the power of judicial review enables them to invalidate the enactments of elected officials. Critics of judicial review assume that an elected body will be more responsive to the desires of the majority population than a non-elected body. Indeed, in the introduction to a recent paper, Barry Friedman described "reconciling judicial review with democracy" as "the central problem of constitutional law for roughly half a century" (Friedman 2000, 1). According to legal scholars, the "problem" with judicial review is not the ability of one branch to override the decisions of another, but rather, in the case of the federal courts, the ability of a non-elected branch to override an elected one. Alex Bickel (1962, 18) has even gone so far as to label the process of judicial review "a deviant institution in the American democracy" because it has the power to undo the work of the majority. Presumably, these critics would be less concerned with judicial review if all judges were elected and therefore subject to the same majoritarian constraint.

By framing the problem in this manner, legal scholars assume that the federal judiciary, due to its institutional nature as an appointed body, behaves differently when it comes to judicial review than would an elected judiciary. Yet, the underlying assumption that elected and appointed courts will render decisions differently is susceptible to empirical validation. If a group of appointed federal courts does not behave differently from a hypothetical group of unappointed federal courts, then much criticism of judicial review will ring hollow. If elected and unelected judges behave the same, then there is no

counter-majoritarian problem with judicial review. Unfortunately, there is no way to test how federal judges would exercise judicial review if they were subject to different institutional guidelines, including electoral constraints because all federal judges are appointed.

While there is only one federal court system, there are fifty state court systems each with its own appellate court. This paper will focus on the state supreme courts because, as courts of last resort, they all serve as the highest arbiter of law in their state and closely parallel the United States Supreme Court in purpose and scope. Because the states use a variety of means to select state supreme court justices, including election and appointment, by comparing the states we can gain insights regarding judicial review that cannot be gained from studying the United States Supreme Court.

Examining the behavior of state supreme court justices, does more than simply shed light on an academic question. While court reformers and state governments have long rejected the federal model for organizing the judiciary, most states have been unable to find a means of selection that can satisfactorily balance the desire to have an judiciary that is free to exercise fair and legitimate review over the other branches of government, but is still concerned with the popular will. The recent explosion in campaign spending and in the competitiveness of judicial races, has caused some states, who elect their justices, to place stricter restrictions on campaigning or to consider switching to appointed justices (Glaberson 2000). In Ohio's most recent judicial raise, special interest groups targeted justices who wrote opinions they disagreed with, causing many in Ohio to reevaluate their judicial selection system (Glaberson 2000). In Texas, lawmakers have recently considered plans as drastic as abandoning the electoral system in favor of a merit based one, to the relatively modest proposal of instituting strict campaign finance laws for judicial races (Talbot, Kaplan, and Moyers 1999, 22). By examining judicial behavior in the state

supreme courts, researchers can provide court reformers with the knowledge they need when considering how they want to structure the courts.

This paper examines how the different schemes used by the states for choosing justices, as well as differences in term length, affect the exercise of judicial review. In particular, eleven states are examined in order to explore whether selection method and term length influence state supreme court justices' willingness to override legislation through the exercise of judicial review.

#### CHAPTER 2

# PREVIOUS APPROACHES TO STUDYING STATE COURT BEHAVIOR

# A. Institutional Effects on Judicial Voting Behavior

Research on legislative behavior has amply demonstrated the electoral connection between elected representatives and their constituencies (Mayhew 1974). Most of the research dealing with the impact of judicial selection method on judicial decision-making has been conducted within the framework of neo-institutional theory, which explains political phenomena in terms of institutional constraints. These studies seek to find a link between judicial behavior, the institutional constraints placed on the judges through structural rules, term limits, selection method, environmental influences, and the political and social environment. Melinda Gann Hall and Paul Brace have conducted the majority of the leading state court institutional research. Their research has found a strong link between these institutional constraints and judicial voting behavior.

In a 1987 study, for example, Hall conceptualized the role that institutional constraints play in shaping judicial behavior. Hall examined the effects of perceived constituent pressure on the willingness of elected judges to engage in a risk-taking behavior by voting to dissent. Dissents involve risk-taking because they can attract public scrutiny and remove the judge's ability to hide behind the safety of court unity when justifying an unpopular vote. Although it is difficult to show a direct link between voter displeasure and a judge's decision, Hall demonstrated that judges fear losing reelection. As a result, they tend to behave in a manner consistent with constituent beliefs. In particular, Hall conducted confidential interviews with elected Louisiana state supreme court justices and then examined their judicial voting records. One of the justices interviewed was a liberal who was elected by a conservative constituency. Hall (1987, 1120) found that he

moderated his views on the death penalty to remain in line with his constituents' beliefs. Although the judge dissented from 26 percent of conservative decisions involving issues with low constituent salience, he dissented only 3.3 percent of the time in cases upholding the death penalty, an issue of high salience to his conservative constituents (Hall 1987, 1122). This finding is in line with a recent poll conducted by the Texas supreme court, which found that half of all judges in Texas consider their ability to appeal to campaign donors when making decisions on the bench (Talbot, Kaplan, and Moyers 1999, 22)

While this study provides no systematic quantitative evidence to indicate a relationship between reelection and judicial behavior, it provides a starting point for future investigation. Indeed, Hall's findings are pertinent to research regarding judicial review because the death penalty cases that she examined involved challenges to the constitutionality of the Louisiana death penalty statute. In other words, the example presented by Hall not only reveals much about the nature of dissenting behavior, but also explores judicial decision-making in cases involving the exercise of judicial review. Hall's study suggests that electoral concerns serve as a meaningful institutional constraint on the decision to overturn legislation.

The justice's fear of retribution for unpopular decisions is more than senseless paranoia. Unpopular decisions can not only motivate a challenger to run against a justice, but it can also improve the ability of the challenger to successful raise money. In a recent study examining the "friends and neighbors effect" in judicial fund-raising, Gregory Thielemann (1993) found that candidates not only received the bulk of their funds from contributors who lived in the same district that they did, but their opponent also did best in these districts. He concludes that since the justices' home districts are the most familiar with their voting record, votes which displease residents of these home districts will be more likely to organize against the incumbent. There is also anecdotal evidence of state supreme court decisions leading to justice's losing their seats. During the 1980s, Texas

had the most pro-plaintiff supreme court. This court would routinely strike down tort reform laws passed by the Texas legislature and upheld many expensive verdicts. This greatly angered insurance providers, business interests, and the Texas medical community, and these organizations decided to take action. They organized TEXPAC which recruited less plaintiff friendly candidates, pumped large sums of money into their campaigns, and then used the contact between doctors and their patients to distribute voting slates for the upcoming election. TEXPAC was hugely successful in their efforts, winning five out of six races. This has lead to Texas becoming the least plaintiff friendly court in the nation (Talbot, Kaplan, and Moyers 1999).

The results Hall (1987) found in her judicial interviews were confirmed by a more recent study in which party affiliation, state party competition, selection method, and term length were found to significantly affect the voting behavior of state supreme court justices in death penalty cases (Brace and Hall 1997, 1219-22). These results show that selection method and term length will have an effect on judicial behavior, in this case whether or not a judge votes to dissent in a death penalty case, and that elected justices behave in a manner that best preserves their ability to stay in office. Other Hall and Brace studies (1995, 2000) have found consistent results regarding the effects of selection method and term length on judicial decision- making.

Research by Hall and Brace has thus confirmed the general consensus that judges who decide cases in a manner consistent with the wishes of their constituency have greater electoral success than judges who vote against the wishes of their voters (see Sheldon 1997, 19). Since most judges want to keep their jobs, they normally decide cases in a manner that minimizes their constituents' displeasure (Sheldon 1997). Empirical research has also shown justices will avoid dissenting in cases involving controversial issues. Doing so presumably minimizes their chances of being targeted by angry constituents in future

elections. Siding with the majority provides safety in numbers, making it difficult to target individual justices for electoral defeat (Hall 1992; Hall and Brace 1993).

When he examined business law, criminal law, and family cases, Daniel Pinello found another example of elected justices behaving differently from non-elected justices. His research revealed that appointed justices favored the individual over the state, while elected justices favored state interests over the individual (Pinello 1995, 130). In interpreting these results, Pinello views the appointed justice's willingness to support minority and criminal rights, legal areas that he deems to be unpopular with the general population, as a product of their greater independence (Pinello 1995, 131).

A large body of research has thus demonstrated that institutional constraints, like selection method, will moderate state supreme court justices' preferences and ideology to conform to constituent beliefs. It has also shown that when dealing with controversial issues, judges will try to minimize their exposure to controversy by voting as part of a large coalition rather than filing separate opinions and dissents. While this research has shown that electoral constraints play a vital role in judicial behavior, none of these works has explicitly examined judicial review from a neo-institutional standpoint. Nevertheless, the studies' results provide a basis to hypothesize about the manner in which institutional constraints will affect judicial review.

# B. The Integrated Case-Related Model of Judicial Decision-Making

Craig Emmert (1992) is the first scholar to systematically examine judicial review in the state supreme courts. Emmert creates an integrated model of judicial review using a combination of explanatory variables to predict whether a court overturns legislation through the exercise of judicial review. For the five year period between 1981 and 1985, Emmert examined all cases decided by state courts of last resort that involved a constitutional challenge to a state statute. Emmert's aim was to test the validity of a "case-related" model of judicial review by combining this model with other variables commonly

used to predict judicial behavior (Emmert 1992, 543). The case-related model uses the issues associated with each case to predict the likelihood of a state court striking down legislation through the exercise of judicial review. For example, his model evaluates whether a state court will be more likely to strike down legislation in an economic regulation case or a criminal case, while simultaneously controlling for a series of other independent variables.

Emmert begins with the issue-based model, which posits that the issues raised in a particular case are likely to affect a court's activism (Emmert 1992, 544). Here activism relates to the willingness of the court to act on a given issue by overriding the legislative branch. Declaring legislation unconstitutional is generally considered an activist decision because the court is substituting its ideas for that of a coequal branch (Canon 1982). Emmert examines five different types of cases: criminal, economic regulation, private law, civil liberties, and government and political. Emmert's hypothesis is that the court will be most likely to strike down laws supporting class-based distinctions or limitations on fundamental freedoms because courts in America have traditionally viewed themselves as protectors of civil liberties (Emmert 1992, 546). Emmert expects the presence of a civil liberty issue to be strongly associated with the exercise of judicial review. On the other end of the spectrum, Emmert expects to find crime legislation overturned the least because criminal defendants tend to bring appeals based on recurring legal issues. Such recurring challenges limit the likelihood of a court overturning legislation in any given case because it recently may have rejected a challenge to the law. Also, many criminal appeals tend to rely on a "shotgun approach," raising as many challenges as possible, which may cause the court to discount issues being raised by the defendant.

Emmert also incorporates to this model variables associated with the "party capability" model, based on the theory that organizational litigants are often more successful in court than individuals due to their access to superior resources and greater

likelihood of being a repeat player (Galanter 1974; Sheehan and Songer 1992). According to party capability theories, government litigants will be the most successful, followed by political groups, business and professional litigants, and finally individuals (Emmert 1992, 546-7). Previous research has shown that in the federal appellate courts certain parties perform better than others (Songer and Sheehan 1992). Wheeler et al. (1987, 443) also examined the comparative advantage enjoyed by "stronger parties" over "weaker parties," finding that the "haves" consistently performed better than the "have-nots" in state supreme courts during the hundred year period of 1870-1970. Most notably, Wheeler and his coauthors (197, 427) found that the government won about seven percent more often than did other litigants.

Emmert also examined the influence that raising multiple issues in an appeal has on the likelihood that a court would nullify a statutory enactment. Emmert hypothesizes that, the more options available to the court when making a decision, the less likely the court would be to overturn legislation. If the justices can find another means to resolve the case, rather than overturning the legislation, they will resolve it in that manner. Therefore, the more issues raised in a case, the more likely that the court will ignore the constitutional claim and instead focus on something else (Emmert 1992, 547). Similarly, Emmert hypothesizes that courts would be more likely to overturn legislation challenged purely on state constitutional grounds rather than on both state and federal constitutional grounds. Emmert believed this to be true because state supreme courts have the final say in legislation challenged under the state constitution, thus shielding them from reversal by a federal court in such circumstances. On the other hand, when a case raises a federal constitutional challenge, the United States Supreme Court has the authority to review the actions of the state court. Since no justice likes having decisions reversed, he will behave in a more activist manner when he can render the final decision about the law (Emmert 1992, 547).

Finally, Emmert incorporates a control for the direction or outcome of the lower court ruling. Based on research first developed in the context of the United States Supreme Court, Emmert suggests that the higher court would be more likely to overturn legislation if a lower court had previously ruled to overturn the statute (Emmert 1992, 548).

Emmert's integrated model of judicial review thus incorporated variables reflecting case type, multiple issues, party capability, and lower court outcome. Using logistic regression, he estimated the impact of these variables on the dichotomous dependent variable: whether or not the court overturned the statute. His analysis was highly successful, as his model yielded a reduction in error of 38%. All of the variables had explanatory power, suggesting that approaches focusing on only one explanatory factor provide incomplete information about the judicial decision-making process (Emmert 1992, 549).

Emmert's study provides an excellent starting point for the study of judicial review in state courts; however, it ignores three key areas of exploration. First, it does not incorporate the attitudinal model of judicial decision-making. In this model, the greatest predictor of how a justice will decide a case is the justice's personal preference for its outcome. A conservative justice will vote in favor of restricting abortion rights, regardless of the legal precedent or constitutional theories, because he favors abortion restrictions. The attitudinal model views justices as policy actors in the same manner that legislators are policy actors. Segal and Spaeth (1994) have shown this model to have great explanatory power in the United States Supreme Court, and Brace and Hall (2000) have included judicial attitudes in their model of state court behavior. Second, Emmert does not examine the role that institutional constraints such as term length and selection method play in state courts' exercise of judicial review. Third, Emmert models court decisions rather than the individual justice's vote. However, examining whole court decisions can

obscure what is actually taking place on the court. When using court decisions a narrow decision is coded the same as an unanimous decision by the court. This study builds on the body of research started by Emmert by adding the judicial independence model to his integrated model of judicial decision-making and by using the individual justices as the unit of analysis. In order to incorporate ideas about selection method into this model, one must first have basic knowledge about the way in which the states developed the various methods used.

#### C. Judicial Selection in the States

In the beginning of our nation's history, the entire American Judiciary, including state courts, were appointed by executives. During the Jacksonian era, a movement began that sought to turn judgeships into elected positions. The Jacksonians held a strong belief in the power of direct democracy and believed that all public officials, including judges, should be selected by the people (Dubois 1980). The initial electoral systems that were created used a partisan primary to choose the candidates, and these elections were conducted in a manner similar to that of any other campaign. As time went on, however, many reformers ceased to be satisfied with this system. In the later decades of the nineteenth century, dissatisfaction arose over the control that party bosses were able to exercise over the electoral system, so a movement began to replace partisan elections with nonpartisan ones.

This distinction in electoral systems continues today. Nine states currently rely on partisan elections, while thirteen rely on nonpartisan elections to choose their supreme court justices (The Council of State Governments 1996). It is generally assumed that partisan judicial elections tend to generate a greater deal of scrutiny and competition than do nonpartisan elections. Nevertheless, Melinda Gann Hall (2001) has found, in the only recent study to systematically compare judicial elections, that both partisan and nonpartisan judges are voted out of office at about the same rate. In the year of 1982,

20% of all judges running in nonpartisan elections lost their seat, while only 4.2% of partisan judges lost their seat. She also found 25.5 % of all elected justices faced a close race when the incumbent wins with 55% or less of the vote (Hall 2001, 318). Hall also found that nonpartisan judges had a more difficult time winning their initial seat, often facing three or more opponents. Since partisan judges only had to contend with one opponent, their initial elections are easier, but they may face stronger opposition for reelection. In some states the partisan label can be meaningless, since in some states one party has traditionally been able to dominate another. Given the generally low saliency of judicial elections, it is also unlikely that state political parties target partisan incumbents when recruiting candidates. For all these reasons, I do not feel that there is an actual difference in terms of judicial behavior. between partisan and nonpartisan elected justices.

The movement to elect judges went out of fashion in the 1930s when the American Bar Association started advocating the merit system plan. Under the merit system, a legal selection committee provides the governor with a list of possible and qualified candidates. This committee is nonpartisan and usually consists of both lawyers and nonlawyers who are typically chosen by either the governor, the state bar associate, or a combination of the two. (Berkson 1981, 6) This committee will then generate a list of several qualified individuals who are interested in serving on the court. The governor then will appoint one of the candidates from this list; the appointment is then followed by a trial period (on average a year) during which voters will have the opportunity to observe the judge's performance. After the year ends, a retention election is held to determine whether to keep the judge or to have the governor appoint a new one. By 1976, twelve states had adopted this standard (Dubois 1980).

In theory, merit selection falls between election and appointment as an approach to judicial selection. In reality, however, the merit selection system differs little from gubernatorial selection. Since the justices in a merit system only run against themselves,

retention elections fail to provide a real check on the sitting justice. Also, the justice is still put into office by the sole discretion of the governor, who chooses the name off of the list.

The foregoing discussion suggests that, while the states follow a variety of selection systems, the critical distinction among them is between elected (partisan and nonpartisan) and non-elected (appointment and merit system). Grouping the individual states' different selection methods into two broad categories is supported in the literature. In Daniel Pinello's (1995, 17) recent book examining the relationship between judicial selection method and court policy orientation, he grouped partisan and nonpartisan courts together and treated merit system courts the same as appointed courts. When including selection method as a variable, Hall and Brace (1995, 1997, 2000) also have consistently grouped justices into either the elected or the non-elected categories.

#### CHAPTER 3

# A REVISED INTEGRATED MODEL OF JUDICIAL DECISION-MAKING: RESEARCH HYPOTHESES

The integrated model combines selection variables related to judicial review with these variables related to case-specific legal issues, party capability, and institutional constraints. As noted above, Emmert's (1992) seminal study, while comprehensive in many respects, failed to account for judicial selection method or term length as potential influences on the exercise of judicial review. Yet term length has the potential to impact judicial activism. Previous works studying strategic behavior have found that judges behave in a more activist manner when they face less frequent elections (Brace and Hall 1995; Hall 1992; Langer 1997). Since this study focuses on the willingness of one branch of government to override another, there should be a strategic dimension to a justice's decision whether to overturn legislation. When constructing a model of judicial behavior, it is useful to consider the possible strategic interactions taking place on the court. A justice might not be willing to risk a showdown with the legislature, or run the risk of having legislators help an opponent, if there is a face frequent reelection campaign.

In addition, longer term lengths may embolden justices because the more years a judge is on the court, the easier it is to build an independent power base within the electorate. Long-serving incumbent judges in contested judicial races often receive more

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>I initially hoped to include an attitudinal variable in my model. Unfortunately, constructing a reliable attitudinal measure for this research project proved to be an impossibility. Since this project is the first research to examine the role of institutional constraints on the willingness of justices to overturn legislation through judicial review, it can still provide good results without containing all the control variables that an ideal study would have.

contributions than their opponents (Baum 1995, 21). Much like senators in the United States Congress, who feel less pressured to raise funds as quickly as member of the House, justices with long term lengths can take longer to rebuild their financial resources for the next campaign. This gives them the freedom to vote against a bill popular with a wealthy interest without having to fear retribution in the form of reduced campaign funding. Previous works have found that the longer a judge is in office, the more likely he is to vote in a manner contrary to constituents' preferences. For example, one study found that judges with terms over eight years were about twice as likely to vote in a manner inconsistent with what might have been expected, given their partisan affiliation (Nagel 1971, 403). For these reasons, the following hypothesis:

Hypothesis 1: The longer the term length, the more likely a state supreme court justice will vote to invalidate legislation through the exercise of judicial review.

Existing research also suggests a connection between selection method and the exercise of judicial review. In states with elected justices, it is a distinct possibility that overriding a popular law could result in electoral reprisals, which may cause elected justices to be reluctant to exercise judicial review. A justice who votes to strike down a law is challenging legislation that a majority of popularly chosen legislators voted to enact. Assuming that many of the voters supported the legislation that was passed, the justice's vote could provide valuable ammunition for a political opponent to use in the next election. In contrast, appointed justices or those who face only a retention election will vote to overturn a higher percentage of legislation because these justices do not have to worry about losing their jobs if they contradict the will of the people. The findings of other researchers (Brace and Hall 1993; Brace, Hall, and Langer 1996) thus suggests that elected justices who must answer to constituents constrain their preferences and moderate their opinions so as to conform to constituent preferences; non-elected justices are freer to challenge the dominant majority coalition.

Hypothesis 2: State supreme court justices will be less likely to vote to invalidate legislation through the exercise of judicial review In states where judges are elected.

There should also be an interactive effect to exist between selection method and term length. Since elected judges hesitate to overrule for fear of electoral reprisal, a fear that is highly diminished for an appointed judge, the buffer provided by a long term will be of greater importance to the elected justice. For this reason, the expected effect of term length will be greater for elected justices than for appointed ones, and an interactive term will capture this relationship.

Hypothesis 3: Term length will have a greater positive affect on elected justices than on non-elected justices.

The first three hypotheses constitute the main innovative contribution of this study, as the relationship between selection method, term length, and judicial review has yet to be systematically evaluated. In addition to these critical variables, however, it is necessary to incorporate controls for other influences on judicial behavior. Emmert (1992) provides a good source for relevant control variables. First, he controlled for case type or issue. Hypotheses that held true for the behavior of the court as a whole should also be true for the individual justice's behavior. The expectation here is that the cases involving more pressing issues, or issues which the court views as falling within their legitimate exercise of power will be the most likely to trigger a justice to vote to overturn a law. Criminal cases will be the least likely to result in the exercise of judicial review because these cases tend to deal repeatedly with the same challenges to legislation. Justices often views these cases as little more than last ditch attempts by defendants to postpone punishment and often deal with them as matters of routine (Emmert 1992, 545). Private law cases often deal with divorce, malpractice, and statutes of limitations; these are areas that also tend to be viewed by the appellate courts as fairly routine (Emmert 1992, 545). While economic cases address routine contractual matters, they also have a greater likelihood of containing

a new challenge than criminal and private law cases. Generally speaking, justices assume a more activist posture when dealing with issues that fall into what the court believes is its specialized jurisdiction. The court often views itself as the venue where disputes between other branches of government should be resolved. In a case of a dispute stemming from government regulations of private, social, or economic activity, justices may view it most appropriate to invalidate legislation (Emmert 1992, 545). From this the following hypothesis is developed:

Hypothesis 4:

State supreme court justices will be more likely to vote to invalidate legislation through the exercise of judicial review in government regulation cases than in those involving criminal, private, or economic issues.

During the twentieth century, the courts have been viewed as the traditional protectors of civil liberties. When other branches of government encroach on individual liberties, the court is expected to provide a remedy for those disadvantaged by the law. This remedy often takes the form of overturning legislative enactments that restrict civil liberties. Accordingly, in Emmert's (1992, 546) study cases challenging legislation for violating civil liberties resulted in the most decisions by the court to overturn legislation.

Hypothesis 5:

State supreme court justices will be most likely to vote to invalidate legislation through the exercise of judicial review in civil liberties cases.

Some litigants are more successful at winning cases than others. Individual litigants tend to be the least successful, often due to their inexperience with the legal system or lack of resources. State government litigants tend to be the most successful, due to their experience with the process and their ample resources. In general, the greater the resources and experience available to a litigant, the better the litigant will do in court (Wheeler et al.1987). The next four hypotheses incorporate the party capability model, which Emmert (1992) used as a control in his integrated model of judicial review. As

explained above, party capability theory suggests that government litigants are the most likely to succeed, followed by nonprofit groups, business and professional litigants, and individuals.

Hypothesis 6: Government litigants will be most successful in their challenge to

the constitutionality of state laws, followed by nonprofit groups,

business and professional litigants, and individuals.

As discussed in chapter 2, justices prefer not having to overturn legislation. If litigants provide an opportunity for an effective remedy without invalidating state laws, the justice will prefer that remedy. In contrast, where an appeal rests solely on state constitutional grounds, then the justice will be forced to make the decision whether to strike down the law (Emmert 1992, 547). Thus the fewer options presented to the judge, the more likely the judge will choose to invalidate legislation (Emmert 1992, 548).<sup>2</sup>

Hypothesis 7: The fewer the number of issues that a case raises, the more likely it is that a justice will vote to invalidate legislation through the

exercise of judicial review.

For convenience these hypotheses are provided in Table 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>My integrated model only includes the variable for the number of issues raised and does not incorporate Emmert's ideas concerning the presence of a federal constitutional claim. I found that in my model it was too closely related to the variable for number of issues raised. My model used a much smaller sample size than Emmert's. I use 11 state supreme courts, while Emmert used 51. In future research projects where I may incorporate more state courts, I may be able to add this into my model.

Table 1: Research Hypotheses

Varia	Variables Related to Judicial Independence		
$H_1$	The longer the term length, the more likely a state supreme court justice will vote to invalidate legislation through the exercise of judicial review.		
$H_2$	In states where judges are elected, state supreme court justices will be less likely to vote to invalidate legislation through the exercise of judicial review.		
$H_3$	Term length will have a greater positive affect on elected justices than on non- elected justices.		
Varia	bles Related to Case -Specific Legal Issues		
$H_4$	State supreme court justices will be more likely to vote to invalidate legislation through the exercise of judicial review in government regulation cases than in those involving criminal, private, or economic issues.		
$H_5$	State supreme court justices will be the most likely to vote to invalidate legislation through the exercise of judicial review in civil liberties cases.		
Varia	Variables Related to Party Capability		
$H_6$	Government litigants will be the most successful in their challenge to the constitutionality of state laws, followed by non-profit groups, business and professional litigants, and individuals.		
Varia	Variables Related to Institutional Constraints		
$\mathbf{H}_7$	The fewer the number of issues that a case raises, the more likely it is that a justice will vote to invalidate legislation through the exercise of judicial review.		

#### CHAPTER 4

# **DATA AND METHODS**

# A. Scope

The data for this study are drawn from cases involving constitutional challenges to state statutes heard in eleven state courts of last resort: Alabama, Georgia, Kansas, New Jersey, Iowa, Michigan, New York, Pennsylvania, South Carolina, Tennessee, and Wisconsin. This sample of states was selected so as to maximize variation on the pertinent independent variables. Furthermore, given data collection constraints, most studies of state supreme court voting behavior are limited to a sample of states (e.g. Hall and Brace 1992, 1993, 1994, 2000). These states were selecting according to the research strategy of ``selecting oberservations on the explanatory variable," as suggested by King, Keohane, and Varba (1994). The explanatory variables in this case were selection method and term length. The goal in choosing which courts to consider was to create a representative sample of states that used varied selection methods and would yield roughly the same number of votes per category. For the purposes of this study, there are two types of courts: those where the justices are elected and those where they are initially appointed. States were chosen to give an equal distribution of short, medium, and long relative term lengths for each of the two selection methods. This resulted in six elected courts and five appointed courts. Table 2 provides information about each court.

**Table 2: State courts by selection method (term length in years)** 

	Elected	Appointed
	Alabama (6)	Kansas (6)
Short Term	Georgia (6)	New Jersey (7)
	Michigan (8)	Iowa (8)
Medium Term	Tennessee (8)	South Carolina (10)
	Wisconsin (10)	New York (10)
Long Term	Pennsylvania (10)	

(Source: The Book of the States: Volume 31)

Table 3: Frequency Distribution for term length by type of selection method.

Term length (in years)	Elected	Appointed
Six	9	6
Seven	0	2
Eight	7	5
Ten	5	7
Eleven	1	4
Twelve	0	1
Life	0	3

(Source: *The Book of the States: Volume 31*)

All of the states selected have intermediate courts of appeal. The presence of an intermediate appellate court will have an effect on the exercise of judicial review because, in states that lack an intermediate appellate court, the state supreme court must take all cases on appeal. In states with intermediate appellate courts, however, the state supreme court generally has the discretion to shape its own docket. The justices are able to use the

lower courts to screen out the more mundane cases, which by their nature, are less likely to raise a viable constitutional challenge<sup>3</sup> (Atkins and Glick 1976). Similar to how other studies of the state supreme courts, this study hopes to reduce variation that is attributable to differences in case complexity and look at a comparable set of cases (Lindquist and Pybas 1998). To this end, the fifteen states that lack intermediate appellate courts were excluded from initial consideration.<sup>4</sup>

#### B. Dependent Variable:

In the revised integrated model of judicial decision-making, the dependent variable is measured as an individual level, dichotomous variable reflecting whether or not the justice voted to overturn legislation. The dependent variable was coded such that a score of one indicates a justice's decision to overturn legislation. Prior to assigning values to the dependent variable, the majority opinion, along with all concurrences and dissents, were read in their entirety and the score for each justice's vote was recorded in light of the context of the case being examined. In order to receive a value of one, the justice's vote – when considered in connection with the associated opinion – must have clearly reflected

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>For a more in-depth discussion of how the presence of an appellate court effects state supreme court case selection, refer to Atkins and Glick (1976)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The data in this study consist of all judicial review cases heard by the selected courts from 1995 to 1999. To gather the data, I ran a Westlaw search to generate a case list. The following search terms were used: "(((CONSTITUTIONAL! UNCONSTITUTIONAL!) /P CHALLENG! & CONSTITUTION & (SECTION STATUT! ACT ENACTMENT LEGISLATION)) 361K57) & DA(AFT 1994 & BEF 2000) & CO(HIGH)." This generated a list of cases for each state. I then reviewed each case on this list to determine whether or not it involved a request by one of the litigants for the court to invalidate legislation. This gave me a total of 335 cases across the eleven states. Since the dependent variable is justice vote rather than court decisions, these 335 cases resulted in data set that included 2097 votes. Appendix A contains all of the cases that this search returned for each of the eleven states being examined. The cases that were incorporated into the study have been marked in bold.

an intention to invalidate the enactment. For a description of how the independent variables are operationalized, please refer to Table 4.

**Table 4: Operizationalization of Variables** 

Dependent Variable			
Judicial Vote	1 = a vote to invalidate legislation through the exercise of judicial review 0 = a vote not to invalidate legislation through the exercise of judicial review		
Selection Variable	les Related to Judicial Independence		
Term Length	term length in years		
Elected Judge	1 = elected judge 0 = non-elected judge		
Term Length X Elected	term length X elected		
Variables Related	d to Case-Specific Legal Issues		
Criminal	1 = case based on a criminal issue 0 = case based on a non - criminal issue		
Private	1 = case based on a private law issue 0 = case based on a non- private law issue		
Economic	1 = case based around an economic issue 0 = case based around a non-economic issue		
Regulatory Law	1 = case based around a government or political issue 0 = case based around a non-government or political issue		
Civil Liberties (reference category)	1 = case based around a civil liberties issue 0 = case based around a non-civil liberties issue		
Variables Related to Party Capability			
Individual	1 = individual litigant 0 = non-individual litigant		

**Table 5: Frequency Distribution of Dependant Variable by State** 

Votes	Upheld Law	Struck Down Law	Total
Alabama	146 81.11%	34 18.89%	180
Georgia	266 76.22%	83 23.78%	349
Kansas	172 78.54%	47 21.46%	219
New Jersey	135 79.41%	35 20.59%	170
Iowa	195 84.05%	37 15.95%	232
Michigan	76 74.51%	26 25.49%	102
New York	115 69.70%	50 30.30%	165
Pennsylvania	173 66.03%	89 33.97%	262
South Carolina	79 65.83%	41 34.17%	120
Tennessee	63 81.82%	14 18.18%	77
Wisconsin	125 56.56%	96 43.44%	221
Total	1545 73.68%	552 26.32%	2097

Table 5 displays a general pattern which confirms some of the expectations.

Generally speaking, in the states where justices are not elected and have longer terms,

justices appear more willing to overturn legislation than the elected justices in states with shorter terms. However, several exceptions exist. Wisconsin, an elected state, has the highest percentage of votes to overturn. The expectation is that term length and non-elected are both positively correlated with the dependent variable; therefore, an increase in term length and the presence of a non-elected justice should increase the percentage of votes to overrule. If one is only considering term length and selection method, then one would expect the non-elected state with the longest term length to have the highest percentage of votes to overturn legislation. New York is the appointed state with the longest term length; however, its justices do not have the highest percentage of votes to overturn legislation. This suggests that there are other factors influencing a justice's decision to overturn legislation.

Table 6: Frequency Distribution of Dependant Variable by Selection Method

Overrule	Elected	Not Elected
Vote Against	696	849
Percent	76.82%	71.28%
Votes For	210	342
Percent	23.18%	28.72%
Total	906	1191

The summary statistics presented in Tables 5 and 6 suggest that some relationship may exist among the relevant variables, although it is impossible using the frequencies shown in Tables 5 and 6 to determine the true relationship between the dependent variable, selection method and term length, in the absence of relevant. This suggests the need to examine the relationships between these variables from a multivariate approach.

Business	1 = business or professional party 0 = non-business or professional party	
Organization	<ul><li>1 = private nonprofit organization as litigant</li><li>0 = not a private nonprofit organization as litigant</li></ul>	
Government (reference category)	1 = government litigant 0 = non-government litigant	
Variables Related to Judicial Institutional Restraints		
Issues	number of issues in case	
Intermediate 1 = intermediate appeals court ruling 0 = no intermediate appeals court ruling		

### C. Descriptive Statistics.

A frequency distribution and correlation matrix of the dependent variable were run for each state and for the selection method variable. The results are in Tables 5 and 6. The average number of votes per state is 212, and the votes are distributed fairly evenly among the states. Alabama has the most votes per state with 349, and Tennessee has the least with only 77 votes. The variation in the number of votes among the states can largely be attributed to the states having different bench sizes. States with larger courts will have more votes. A roughly equivalent amount of votes were given for both elected and non-elected justices (906 elected votes, 1191 non-elected votes).

#### D. Methods.

As illustrated by the descriptive statistics, a model is needed that will allow one to measure each independent variable's individual effect on the dependent variable while controlling for other potential influences. This suggests the need to use a form of multiple regression analysis. A review of the literature suggests that logistic regression ("logit") is the best tool for this study (Emmert 1992; Songer and Haire 1992). Since the dependent variable is dichotomous, OLS will not produce reliable results (Aldrich and Nelson 1984). Logit estimates the effect of one variable on the probability of the dependent variable equaling one, while controlling for other independent variables. Logit calculates both the maximum likelihood estimate (MLE) of each parameter and the parameter's standard error (SE). The MLE estimates the independent variable's contribution to the probability of the dependent variable being a one or a zero (Songer and Haire 1992).

#### CHAPTER 5

#### **RESULTS AND ANALYSIS**

#### A. Results.

Table 7 presents the results from the logit model of votes in judicial review cases. The model performs well, with an impressive 30.5 % reduction in error over the null model. As presented in Table 7, many of the independent variables reach conventional levels of statistical significance, and all of the critical independent variables behave as hypothesized. Most importantly, this model confirms the importance of selection method and term length to the analysis of judicial behavior.

Table 7: Effect of Term Length and Selection Method on State Supreme Court Votes to Overturn Legislation Through Judicial Review. (1994-1999)

Independent Variable	Logit Parameter Estimate	Standard Error
Intercept	-1.6440	0.3518
Termlength	0.0935**	0.0316
Criminal Law	-0.3482*	0.1903
Private Law	-0.3586*	0.1903
Economic Law	-0.1438	0.1575
Regulatory Law	-0.3326*	0.1652
Individual Appellant	-0.2221	0.2027
Business Appellant	-0.0128	0.2085
Private Organization Appellant	-0.0592	0.2671

Number of Issues Raised in Appeal	-0.0613**	** 0.0168		
Intermediate Appeals Court Decision	-0.1262	0.1317		
Amici Brief	0.8306***	* 0.1120		
State as Opposition	0.1437	0.1302		
Elected	-0.7313*	0.4162		
Term Length X Elected	0.1283**	0.0478		
Chi-Square Degrees of Freedom Log Linear % Correct (null) % Correct (model) Reduction of Error	= 14 = 22 = 64 = 75	270.465 4.3		
<u> </u>	N=2097 *p<=.05 **p<=.01 ***p<=.001 Significance tests are one-tailed.			

First, that the elected justices would be less likely to vote to invalidate legislation through the exercise of judicial review in light of potential electoral reprisal. Consistent with my initial hypothesis, the dummy variable is negative and is significant at the .05 level, indicating that the likelihood of the association being random is less than five percent. This finding indicates that justices who are elected behave in a constrained manner and are more reluctant to override the decisions of majoritarian institutions. The non-elected justices do not need to fear electoral reprisal from their votes, allowing them to assume a more activist stance and thus to override legislation more frequently.

Second, it was hypothesized that the longer the term length, the less reluctant a justice would be to vote in favor of overriding legislation through judicial review and that term length would have a greater influence on elected justices than on non-elected justices.

Consistent with these hypotheses, term length is positively related to overriding behavior and significant at the .01 level. Due to the use of an interactive term in the model, the term length variable represents the effects of term length when the election dummy variable equals zero. The interactive term (Term length X Elected) is also positively related to the dependent variable, and statistically significant at the .01 level; it shows the additional effect that term length has on elected justices.<sup>5</sup>

This model contained two major categories of control variables, those related to legal issues raised and those related to party capability. Three of the four legal issue variables were statistically significant at the .05 level. Based on Emmert's research, it was predicted that with civil liberties as the reference category, the other issue variables would be negatively related to a vote to override legislation. Since all of the coefficients for these variables are negative, and three (criminal law, private law, and regulatory law) are significant, the data confirm this hypothesis. Because justices prefer to resolve cases without overturning existing law, it was also hypothesized that the greater the number of issues in addition to the claimed constitutional violation, the lower the probability of a justice voting to override legislation. The logit model produced results that were consistent with this hypothesis and were statistically significant at the .001 level. The variables related to party capability were not statistically significant, although they did have the predicted negative coefficient when compared against the reference category of government litigants.

The performance of the control variables is important. If the control variables performed in a manner contrary to expected or failed to generate any significant results, it would cast a doubt over their appropriateness as controls. Also, the purpose of this model is to identify the effect that term length and selection method have in the context of a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> For a more in-depth discussion of the acceptability of interactive terms in multiple regression models and on how to interpret these variables, see Friedrich (1982).

comprehensive model of judicial behavior. By including statistically relevant control variables in my model, it is possible to develop a model that more accurately resembles the judicial decision-making process and the role institutional constraints play in it.

## B. Discussion

This study shows that term length and selection method influence a justice's decision to override legislation through the exercise of judicial review. While other factors identified in previous research do affect a justice's decision to override legislation, the findings in this study leave little doubt that term length and selection method play a major role in that decision as well. Unfortunately, these findings do not make clear what is causing these institutional features to modify judicial behavior. They probably operate in one of two ways. First, the neo-institutional literature has found that, when voting in dissents, elected judges will modify their policy preference or vote with the majority on an unpopular decision to shield themselves from electoral reprisal (Sheldon 1997; Hall 1992; Hall and Brace 1993). If elected justices modify their dissenting behavior, which is less likely to be noticed by the public, then they will certainly be likely to modify their behavior in connection with high-profile cases challenging legislative enactments. Indeed, the decisional calculus is probably similar in both situations. When asked to make a decision regarding whether to override legislation through judicial review, justices who face election in the near future might be in a difficult predicament. The justices may assume that since the same constituents that elected them also elected the legislators from their area, the constituents may also favor the legislation. Because they fear angering thier constituents, the justices may vote to uphold the law despite personal policy preference or concerns over the appropriateness of the law. Justice who are more isolated from the electorate, either by appointment or longer term, do not need to be as concerned with thier constituents' wishes.

The second explanation for the difference in behavior between elected and appointed justices could involve consistency between the preferences of legislators and justices in states that elect justices. If one assumes that voters elect officials with agreeable policy preferences, then it is very likely that voters would elect legislators and justices with similar policy preferences. This means that the justices on an elected court may more often support the challenged legislation than justices on an appointed court. Moreover, the more frequently justices must face reelection or reappointment, the more frequently they will be reminded of their constituents' wishes; this can explain why justices with longer terms overturn legislation more frequently. The fear of reelection suggests another area for research that might yield interesting results. A future study could examine if there is any change in judicial behavior as the justices approach the end of their term. The results in this paper, would lead one to suspect, that the closer justices are to reselection, the less likely that they would be to vote against legislation. If a future researcher, were to substitute the term length variable with years until reselection, it may yield interesting results, probably indicating a positive relationship between years before reselection and the overturning of legislation.

A third way for future researchers to discover what is driving this difference in behavior, would be to select one or two state supreme courts and interview the justices on those courts concerning what type of considerations go into a decision to overturn legislation. If granted anonymity the justices might be willing to discuss the pressures and concerns that drive their decision making process. The interviewer should also look at supreme courts, such as Georgia's, where some judges were initially appointed to fill midterm vacancies and others are elected. The interview should focus on the justices' motivations for seeking office. This project may show differences between the motivations of elected and appointed justices in how they decided to seek office, and in how they view their role in government.

The previous theoretical discussion illustrates the need for further research on this subject, specifically the inclusion of an accurate attitudinal variable as a control. Unfortunately creating this variable poses a daunting research burden. First, for extremely recent decisional data, no attitudinal measure exists and surrogates for the true attitude of the justices are often either unavailable or unreliable. Second, party affiliation is often not available, and where it is available, judge's party affiliation often reflects norms within the state rather than an actual ideological framework. In Georgia, all of the justices would be identified as Democrats; however, the attitudes of Georgia's justices vary widely from justice to justice. Some of the justices on the Georgia Supreme Court have views that are more conservative than those of Republican justices in other states. The presence of state norms thus renders partisanship a less useful surrogate measure of policy preferences.

Third, all attitudinal measures are plagued by reliability problems. It is very difficult to get a true measure of a justice's preferences because justices are often reluctant to discuss them openly. This often leads researchers to develop other methods to assess the justice's policy beliefs that rely on a circular type of logic. For example, Segal and Spaeth (1993) use a combination of lower court rulings made by the justice prior to nomination to the Supreme Court, editorials published during confirmation, and previous decisions to construct an attitudinal measure. This method is problematic, however, because all three of these measures are based on a justice's previous voting record. In essence, they only predict a justice's future votes by suggesting that judges behave consistently with past behavior. These are just some of the difficulties that future researchers will face when attempting to incorporate attitudinal variables in future research on state supreme courts.

Along with providing new directions for research, this study is useful because it adds credibility to one of the principal debates in legal theory. Many law review articles and books have been written concerning how the United States Supreme Court should behave given the countermajoritarian nature of judicial review. While such works attempt

to set forth theories concerning when judicial review would be legitimate, they appear to assume that the United States Supreme Court would behave differently if it were elected rather than appointed (Chopper 1980; Ely 1980; Posner 1995; Scalia 1997; Friedman 2001). By examining differences in voting behavior between both appointed and elected state supreme court justices, this study demonstrates that there is a difference in how courts exercise the power of judicial review, depending on selection method. This findings, and the future research that will expand beyond the scope of this study, show that there is a statistically significant difference between the willingness of elected and appointed justices to overrule legislation through judicial review. This difference can be attributed to selection method and to term length. This finding supports the concerns of judicial theorists over the counter-majoritarian nature of judicial review in the federal system, where all judges are appointed.

Most importantly, this study has broadened our understanding of judicial behavior. Political scientists now have evidence that institutional constraints affect whether justices choose to invalidate legislation, which will allow political scientists to provide better information concerning potential reforms to state court systems. For example, a recent *New York Times* article focused on how many states are considering modifying their court system to restrict the influence of special interests and of constituent pressures on the judiciary. In the last year both the Pennsylvania and the Michigan legislatures have considered legislation that would change their judicial selection system from an elected system to an appointed one (Glaberson 2001). The results of this study could be taken into account by those contemplating such reforms. By switching from an elected to an appointed system, the legislators of these states could unintentionally create a system in which legislation is more frequently invalidated by the courts. This article emphasizes the importance of exploring how institutional constraints affect judicial behavior and

demonstrates how the ideas tested in this paper have importance for the world beyond academia.

### REFERENCES

- Aldrich, John, and Forest Nelson. 1984. *Linear Probability, Logit, and Probit Models*. Beverly Hills: Sage
- Atkins, Burton, and Henry Glick. 1976. "Environmental and Structural Variables as Determinants of Issues in State Courts of Last Resort." *American Journal of Political Science* 20: 35-48
- Baum, Lawrence. 1995. "Electing Judges." *Contemplating Courts*. Washington, DC: Congressional Quarterly Press.
- Berkson, Larry. 1981. *Judicial Selection in the United States*. Chicago: American Judicature Society.
- Bickel, Alexander. 1962. *The Least Dangerous Branch*. New Haven: The Yale University Press
- Brace, Paul, Laura Langer, and Melinda Gann Hall. 1999. "Measuring the Preferences of State Supreme Court Judges." American Political Science Association Annual Meeting.
- Brace, Paul, and Melinda Gann Hall. 2000. "The courts in Institutional Perspective." *New Perspectives on Courts*. Eds. Howard Gillman and Cornell Clayton. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Brace, Paul, and Melinda Gann Hall. 1997. "The Interplay of Preferences, Case Facts, Context, and Rules in the Politics of Judicial Choice." *Journal of Politics* 59: 1206-1231
- Brace, Paul, and Melinda Gann Hall. 1994. "The Vicissitudes of Death by Decree: Forces Influencing Capital Punishment Decision Making in State Supreme Courts." *Social Science Quarterly* 75:136-151
- Brace, Paul, and Melinda Gann Hall. 1993. "Integrated Model of Judicial Dissent." *Journal of Politics* 55: 914-935
- Brace, Paul, and Melinda Gann Hall. 1990. "Neo-Institutionalism and Dissent in State Supreme Courts." *Journal of Politics* 52: 54-70

- Canon, Bradley. 1982. "A Framework for the Analysis of Judicial Activism." *Supreme Court Activism and Restraint*, ed. Stephen Halpern and Charles Lamb. Lexington: Lexington Books
- The Council of State Governments. 1996. *The Book of the States: 1996-97 Edition*. Volume 31. Lexington, Kentucky.
- Choper, Jesse. 1980. *Judicial Review and the National Political Process*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Dubois, Phillip. 1980. From Ballot to Bench. Austin: University of Texas Press.
- Ely, John Hart. 1980. Democracy and Distrust. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Emmert, Craig F. 1992. "An Integrated Case-Related Model of Judicial Decision Making: Explaining State Supreme Court Decisions in Judicial Review Cases." *Journal of Politics* 54: 543-552
- Friedman, Barry. 2000. "The History of the Counter-majoritarian Difficulty, Part Five: Birth of an Academic Obsession." Unpublished
- Friedrich, Robert. 1982. "The Workshop: In Defense of Multiplicative terms in Multiple Regression Equations." *American Journal of Political Science*. 26: 797-833
- Talbot, Stephen, Shiela Kaplan, and Bill Moyers. November, 23 1999. "Justice for Sale." Transcript. *Frontline*. www.pbs.org/wgbh/pages/frontline/shows/justice/etc/script.html
- Glaberson, William. June,13 2001. "States Take Steps to Reign in Excesses of Judicial Politicking." *New York Times*
- Glaberson, William. October, 23 2000. "A Bipartisan Effort to Remove Politics From Judicial Races." *New York Times*. A18
- Glaberson, William. September, 7 2000, "A Spirited Campaign for Ohio Court Puts Judges on New Terrain." *New York Times*. A11
- Galanter, Marc. 1974. "Why the 'Haves' Come Out Ahead: Speculations on the Limits of Legal Change." *Law and Society Review* 9: 95-160
- Glick, Henry. 1993. Courts, Politics, and Justice. New York: McGraw Hill.

- Hagle, Timothy, and Glenn Mitchell II. 1992. "Goodness of Fit Measure for Probit and Logit." *American Journal of Political Science*. 36: 762-784
- Hall, Melinda Gann. 1987. "Constituent Influence in State Supreme Courts: Conceptual Notes and Case Study." *Journal of Politics*. 49: 1117-1124
- Hall, Melinda Gann. 1992. "Electoral Politics and Strategic Voting in State Supreme Courts." *Journal of Politics*. 54: 426-446
- Hall, Melinda Gann. 2001. "State Supreme Courts in American Democracy: Probing the Myths of Judicial Reform." *American Political Science Review*. 95: 315-330
- Langer, Laura. 1997. "State Supreme Courts and Counter-majoritarian Behavior: Strategic or Sincere?" Paper presented at the Southern Political Science Association Annual Meeting.
- Lindquist, Stefanie, and Kevin Pybas. 1998. "State Supreme Court Decisions to Overrule Precedent, 1965-1996" *The Justice System Journal.* 20:
- Lindquist, Stefanie, Susan Haire, and Donald Songer. 2001. "One Principal and Multiple Agents: Supreme Court Auditing of the United States Courts of Appeals." Paper presented at the American Political Science Association Annual Meeting.
- Mayhew, David. 1974. *Congress the Electoral Connection*. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Posner, Richard. 1995. Overcoming Law. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Pinello, Daniel. 1995. The Impact of Judicial-Selection Method on State-Supreme-Court Policy: Innovation, Reaction, and Atrophy. London: Greenwood Press
- Scalia, Antonin. 1997. A Matter of Interpretation: Federal Courts and the Law. Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton University Press.
- Sheldon, Charles, and Linda Maule. 1997. *Choosing Justice*. Pullman, Washington: Washington State University Press.
- Segal, Jeffrey A., and Harold J. Spaeth. 1993. *The Supreme Court and the Attitudinal Model*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Songer, Donald, and Reginald Sheehan. 1992. "Who Wins on Appeal? Upperdogs and Underdogs in the United States Courts of Appeals." *American Journal of Political Science* 36: 35-58

- Thielemann, Gergory. 1993. "Local Advantages in Campaign Financing: Friends, Neighbors, and Their Money in Texas Supreme Court Elections." *Journal of Politics* 55: 472-478
- Wheeler, Stanton, Bliss Cartwright, Robert Kagan, and Lawrence Friedman. 1987. "Do the 'Haves' come out ahead? Winning and losing in the State Supreme Courts, 1879-1970.." *Law and Society Review.* 21: 403-445

#### APPENDIX A.

#### CASE LIST

This appendix contains the case list generated by my WESTLAW search. The cases in bold are the ones that were included in the study.

## **Alabama**

- 1. Town of Brilliant v. City of Winfield, 752 So.2d 1192 (Ala., Dec 03, 1999) (NO. 1980856)
- 2. Wells v. Storey, 1999 WL 1065143 (Ala., Nov 24, 1999) (NO. 1970450)
- 3.South Cent. Bell Telephone Co. v. State, 1999 WL 1455085 (Ala., Nov 17, 1999) (NO. 1960591)
- 4.Tillis Trucking Co., Inc. v. Moses, 748 So.2d 874 (Ala., Nov 12, 1999) (NO. 1960674, 1960715)
- 5.Ex parte Rice, 766 So.2d 143 (Ala., Nov 05, 1999) (NO. 1980846)
- 6..McKowan v. Bentley, 1999 WL 667290 (Ala., Aug 27, 1999) (NO. 1971357)
- 7.Alabama Power Co. v. Citizens of State, 740 So.2d 371 (Ala., Jul 16, 1999) (NO. 1961087, 1961262, 1961088, 1961175)
- 8. Abbott Laboratories v. Durrett, 746 So.2d 316, 1999-1 Trade Cases P 72,559 (Ala., Jun 25, 1999) (NO. 1960464)
- 9.Ex parte Melof, 735 So.2d 1172, 23 Employee Benefits Cas. 2079 (Ala., May 28, 1999) (NO. 1971900)
- 10.State ex rel. Pryor ex rel. Jeffers v. Martin, 735 So.2d 1156, 136 Ed. Law Rep. 1100 (Ala., May 14, 1999) (NO. 1970109)
- 11.Goodyear Tire and Rubber Co. v. Vinson, 749 So.2d 393 (Ala., Apr 23, 1999) (NO. 1972057, 1972186)
- 12.City of Hoover v. Oliver & Wright Motors, Inc., 730 So.2d 608 (Ala., Mar 26, 1999) (NO. 1970366, 1970368)
- 13. Williams v. Alabama Power Co., 730 So.2d 172 (Ala., Mar 12, 1999) (NO. 1970267)
- 14.Oliver v. Towns, 738 So.2d 798 (Ala., Jan 15, 1999) (NO. 1970312)
- 15.Ex parte McCollough, 747 So.2d 887 (Ala., Jan 08, 1999) (NO. 1962015)
- 16.Rice v. Sinkfield, 732 So.2d 993 (Ala., Dec 18, 1998) (NO. 1970449)
- 17.Ex parte Boyette, 728 So.2d 644 (Ala., Dec 18, 1998) (NO. 1971554)
- 18.Life Ins. Co. of Georgia v. Parker, 726 So.2d 619 (Ala., Nov 20, 1998) (NO. 1951583)
- 19.Life Ins. Co. of Georgia v. Johnson, 725 So.2d 934 (Ala., Aug 21, 1998) (NO. 1970037)

- 20.In re Anonymous, 720 So.2d 497 (Ala., Aug 03, 1998) (NO. 1971860)
- 21.M & Associates, Inc. v. City of Irondale, 723 So.2d 592 (Ala., Jul 31, 1998) (NO. 1962143)
- 22.St. Elmo Irvington Water Authority v. Mobile County Com'n, 728 So.2d 125 (Ala., Jul 31, 1998) (NO. 1961482)
- 23.Knutson v. Bronner, 721 So.2d 678 (Ala., Jul 24, 1998) (NO. 1951233, 1951355)
- 24.Kirby v. City of Anniston, 720 So.2d 887 (Ala., Jul 24, 1998) (NO. 1970999)
- 25.Life Ins. Co. of Georgia v. Smith, 719 So.2d 797 (Ala., Jul 17, 1998) (NO. 1951773, 1951776, 1951797, 1951774, 1951777, 1951798, 1951775, 1951796, 1951799)
- 26.Ex parte Jenkins, 723 So.2d 649 (Ala., Jul 17, 1998) (NO. 1961520, 1961531)
- 27.Kmart Corp. v. Kyles, 723 So.2d 572 (Ala., May 22, 1998) (NO. 1961790)
- 28.State v. Alabama Mun. Ins. Corp., 730 So.2d 107 (Ala., May 22, 1998) (NO. 1961555)
- 29.Ex parte Clark, 728 So.2d 1126 (Ala., May 15, 1998) (NO. 1951368)
- 30.South Cent. Bell Telephone Co. v. State, 711 So.2d 1005 (Ala., Mar 20, 1998) (NO. 1960591)
- 31.Ex parte Jefferson County, 710 So.2d 908 (Ala., Mar 06, 1998) (NO. 1970081)
- 32.Looney v. Davis, 721 So.2d 152 (Ala., Feb 13, 1998) (NO. 1951825)
- 33. Ex parte State ex rel. James, 711 So.2d 952 (Ala., Jan 23, 1998) (NO. 1951975, 1960839, 1960927, 1960572)
- 34. Schulte v. Smith, 708 So.2d 138 (Ala., Dec 19, 1997) (NO. 1960476)
- 35.Ex parte State Mut. Ins. Co., 715 So.2d 207 (Ala., Dec 16, 1997) (NO. 1960410, 1960455, 1960589)
- 36.Cherokee Elec. Co-op. v. Cochran, 706 So.2d 1188 (Ala., Dec 12, 1997) (NO. 1960582)
- 37.James v. Alabama Coalition For Equity, Inc., 713 So.2d 937, 128 Ed. Law Rep. 483 (Ala., Dec 12, 1997) (NO. 1960327, 1960471, 1960489, 1960328, 1960472, 1960490, 1960470, 1960473)
- 38.Jefferson County Bd. of Educ. v. Moore, 706 So.2d 1147, 124 Ed. Law Rep. 1135, 13 IER Cases 806 (Ala., Nov 14, 1997) (NO. 1960615, 1960616)
- 39.Ellis v. Pope, 709 So.2d 1161 (Ala., Nov 13, 1997) (NO. 1961789)
- 40.Talent Tree Personnel Services, Inc. v. Fleenor, 703 So.2d 917, 13 IER Cases 482 (Ala., Sep 12, 1997) (NO. 1951954, 1952087)
- 41.Ford Motor Co. v. Sperau, 708 So.2d 111 (Ala., Sep 05, 1997) (NO. 1931591)
- 42.Pace v. State, 714 So.2d 332 (Ala., Aug 29, 1997) (NO. 1960029)
- 43.Life Ins. Co. of Georgia v. Johnson, 701 So.2d 524 (Ala., Aug 15, 1997) (NO. 1940357)
- 44. Akin v. State, 698 So.2d 238 (Ala., Jun 13, 1997) (NO. 1960712)
- 45.BMW of North America, Inc. v. Gore, 701 So.2d 507, 65 USLW 2800 (Ala., May 09, 1997) (NO. 1920324)
- 46.Ex parte Myers, 699 So.2d 1285 (Ala., May 09, 1997) (NO. 1951981)
- 47.James v. Langford, 695 So.2d 1158, 119 Ed. Law Rep. 736 (Ala., May 09, 1997) (NO.

- 1960728, 1960797)
- 48. Opinion of the Justices, 694 So.2d 1307 (Ala., May 07, 1997) (NO. 363)
- 49. Williams v. Hank's Ambulance Service, Inc., 699 So.2d 1230, 54 Soc.Sec.Rep.Ser.
- 421, Medicare and Medicaid Guide (C 45,194 (Ala., Apr 18, 1997) (NO. 1950683)
- 50.City of Mountain Brook v. Green Valley Partners I, 690 So.2d 359 (Ala., Mar 21, 1997) (NO. 1951577)
- 51.Ex parte Knowles, 689 So.2d 832 (Ala., Mar 14, 1997) (NO. 1940721)
- 52.Ex parte Trawick, 698 So.2d 162 (Ala., Feb 28, 1997) (NO. 1951209)
- 53.Mitchell v. Probate Court of Jefferson County, 689 So.2d 17 (Ala., Jan 17, 1997) (NO. 1941515)
- 54.Ex parte United Broth. of Carpenters and Joiners of America, AFL-CIO, 688 So.2d 246 (Ala., Jan 10, 1997) (NO. 1951080, 1951207)
- 55.Ex parte James, 713 So.2d 869, 128 Ed. Law Rep. 415 (Ala., Jan 10, 1997) (NO. 1950030, 1950241, 1950917, 1950031, 1950408, 1950240, 1950409)
- 56.Custard Ins. Adjusters, Inc. v. Youngblood, 686 So.2d 211 (Ala., Nov 27, 1996) (NO. 1930797)
- 57.Ex parte AMF Bowling Centers, Inc., 683 So.2d 439 (Ala., Oct 25, 1996) (NO. 1950634)
- 58.Ex parte Brown, 686 So.2d 409 (Ala., Sep 13, 1996) (NO. 1941150)
- 59.Mingledorff v. Vaughan Regional Medical Center, Inc., 682 So.2d 415 (Ala., Sep 06, 1996) (NO. 1950418)
- 60.Fairhope Yacht Club, Inc. v. Johns Eastern Co., Inc., 686 So.2d 1133 (Ala., Sep 06, 1996) (NO. 1930274, 1930857)
- 61.Ex parte Bruner, 681 So.2d 173 (Ala., Aug 30, 1996) (NO. 1950451)
- 62.Ex parte Northport Health Service, Inc., 682 So.2d 52 (Ala., Jul 19, 1996) (NO. 1950849)
- 63.American Legion Post No. 57 v. Leahey, 681 So.2d 1337 (Ala., Jul 12, 1996) (NO. 1930990)
- 64.Ex parte Knotts, 686 So.2d 486 (Ala., Jul 12, 1996) (NO. 1950239)
- 65.General Motors Corp. v. Hopper, 681 So.2d 1373 (Ala., Jul 12, 1996) (NO. 1940777)
- 66.Farnell v. State, 679 So.2d 662 (Ala., May 31, 1996) (NO. 1941020)
- 67.Loyal American Life Ins. Co., Inc. v. Mattiace, 679 So.2d 229 (Ala., May 24, 1996) (NO. 1941777)
- 68.Breland v. Ford, 693 So.2d 393 (Ala., May 03, 1996) (NO. 1931653)
- 69.Life Ins. Co. of Georgia v. Johnson, 684 So.2d 685 (Ala., Apr 26, 1996) (NO. 1940357)
- 70.Ex parte Alsbrooks, 678 So.2d 756 (Ala., Apr 19, 1996) (NO. 1950090)
- 71.Ex parte Land, 678 So.2d 224 (Ala., Mar 01, 1996) (NO. 1940896)
- 72.Adams v. Robertson, 676 So.2d 1265 (Ala., Dec 22, 1995) (NO. 1931603, 1931604, 1931605, 1931606, 1931607, 1931610, 1931611, 1931612, 1931613)
- 73. Ex parte Wooden, 670 So.2d 892 (Ala., Nov 22, 1995) (NO. 1941836)
- 74. Lemond Const. Co. v. Wheeler, 669 So.2d 855 (Ala., Sep 29, 1995) (NO. 1930866)

- 75. Collins v. Bennett, 684 So.2d 681, 115 Ed. Law Rep. 190 (Ala., Sep 29, 1995) (NO. 1930468, 1930543)
- 76. Ex parte Adams, 669 So.2d 128 (Ala., Sep 22, 1995) (NO. 1941006)
- 77.Smith v. Schulte, 671 So.2d 1334 (Ala., Aug 18, 1995) (NO. 1930362, 1930459)
- 78. Opinion of the Justices, 665 So.2d 1382 (Ala., Jul 10, 1995) (NO. 347)
- 79.Lowe v. Pension Bd. of General Retirement System for Employees of Jefferson County, 665 So.2d 195 (Ala., Jun 30, 1995) (NO. 1940173, 1940174)
- 80.Sperau v. Ford Motor Co., 674 So.2d 24, 63 USLW 2796 (Ala., Jun 09, 1995) (NO. 1931473, 1931591, 1931629)
- 81.Pinto v. Alabama Coalition for Equity, 662 So.2d 894, 104 Ed. Law Rep. 1403 (Ala., May 19, 1995) (NO. 1931030, 1931142, 1931031, 1931149, 1931141, 1931150)
- 82.Maddox v. Madison County Com'n, 661 So.2d 224 (Ala., May 05, 1995) (NO. 1931432)
- 83.Jefferson County v. Richards, 662 So.2d 1127 (Ala., Mar 31, 1995) (NO. 1930255)
- 84.Roe v. Mobile County Appointment Bd., 676 So.2d 1206 (Ala., Mar 14, 1995) (NO. 1940461)
- 85.Bassett v. Newton, 658 So.2d 398 (Ala., Mar 03, 1995) (NO. 1921724)
- 86.Ex parte Father Walter Memorial Child Care Center, 656 So.2d 369 (Ala., Feb 24, 1995) (NO. 1931309)
- 87.City of Birmingham v. City of Vestavia Hills, 654 So.2d 532 (Ala., Jan 13, 1995) (NO. 1931335)
- 88.Miller v. Marshall County Bd. of Educ., 652 So.2d 759, 99 Ed. Law Rep. 680 (Ala., Jan 06, 1995) (NO. 1930984)

### Georgia

- 1. Pace v. State, 271 Ga. 829, 524 S.E.2d 490 (Ga., Dec 03, 1999) (NO. S99P0647)
- 2.Kolokouris v. State, 271 Ga. 597, 523 S.E.2d 311, 99 FCDR 3972 (Ga., Nov 01, 1999) (NO. S99A0725)
- 3.Drane v. State, 271 Ga. 849, 523 S.E.2d 301, 99 FCDR 3982 (Ga., Nov 01, 1999) (NO. S99P1003)
- 4.Wilson v. State, 271 Ga. 811, 525 S.E.2d 339, 00 FCDR 501 (Ga., Nov 01, 1999) (NO. S99P0651)
- 5.Lyons v. State, 271 Ga. 639, 522 S.E.2d 225, 99 FCDR 3809 (Ga., Oct 18, 1999) (NO. S99A0643)
- 6.Camden County v. Haddock, 271 Ga. 664, 523 S.E.2d 291, 99 FCDR 3778 (Ga., Oct 18, 1999) (NO. S99A1448)
- 7.Turpin v. Todd, 271 Ga. 386, 519 S.E.2d 678, 99 FCDR 3166 (Ga., Jul 14, 1999) (NO. S99A0431, S99X0449)
- 8.Haney v. Development Authority of Bremen, 271 Ga. 403, 519 S.E.2d 665, 99 FCDR 2504 (Ga., Jul 08, 1999) (NO. S99A1141, S99A1142, S99A1281)
- 9.Nash v. State, 271 Ga. 281, 519 S.E.2d 893, 99 FCDR 2518 (Ga., Jul 06, 1999) (NO. S98G1663)

- 10.State v. Lucious, 271 Ga. 361, 518 S.E.2d 677 (Ga., Jun 14, 1999) (NO. S99A0099)
- 11.Baker v. City of Marietta, 271 Ga. 210, 518 S.E.2d 879 (Ga., Jun 14, 1999) (NO. S99A0311, S99X0314)
- 12.Smith v. Langford, 271 Ga. 221, 518 S.E.2d 884 (Ga., Jun 14, 1999) (NO. S99A0438)
- 13.Ashkouti v. City of Suwanee, 271 Ga. 154, 516 S.E.2d 785, 99 FCDR 2075 (Ga., Jun 01, 1999) (NO. S99A0334)
- 14.Love v. State, 271 Ga. 398, 517 S.E.2d 53, 99 FCDR 2084 (Ga., Jun 01, 1999) (NO. S99A0509)
- 15.Fullwood v. Sivley, 271 Ga. 248, 517 S.E.2d 511, 99 FCDR 2077 (Ga., Jun 01, 1999) (NO. S99H0240)
- 16.Statesboro Pub. Co., Inc. v. City of Sylvania, 271 Ga. 92, 516 S.E.2d 296, 27 Media L. Rep. 1891 (Ga., May 17, 1999) (NO. S99A0474)
- 17. Parents Against Realignment v. Georgia High School Ass'n, 271 Ga. 114, 516 S.E.2d 528, 136 Ed. Law Rep. 581 (Ga., May 17, 1999) (NO. S99A0654)
- 18.Cobb County School Dist. v. Barker, 271 Ga. 35, 518 S.E.2d 126 (Ga., May 03, 1999) (NO. S99A0248)
- 19.Pruitt v. State, 270 Ga. 745, 514 S.E.2d 639 (Ga., Mar 19, 1999) (NO. S98P1962)
- 20.Luke v. Georgia Dept. of Natural Resources, 270 Ga. 647, 513 S.E.2d 728 (Ga., Mar 15, 1999) (NO. S98A1447)
- 21.Gibson v. Turpin, 270 Ga. 855, 513 S.E.2d 186, 99 FCDR 2152 (Ga., Feb 22, 1999) (NO. S97R1412)
- 22.Barnett v. State, 270 Ga. 472, 510 S.E.2d 527 (Ga., Jan 11, 1999) (NO. S98A1768)
- 23.Powell v. State, 270 Ga. 327, 510 S.E.2d 18, 98 FCDR 3952 (Ga., Nov 23, 1998) (NO. S98A0755)
- 24.State v. Johnson, 270 Ga. 111, 507 S.E.2d 443, 98 FCDR 3479 (Ga., Oct 19, 1998) (NO. S98A0595)
- 25.Harry v. Glynn County, 269 Ga. 503, 501 S.E.2d 196, 98 FCDR 1852 (Ga., Jun 01, 1998) (NO. S98A0374)
- 26.Krieger v. Walton County Bd. of Com'rs, 1998 WL 275406, 98 FCDR 1854 (Ga., Jun 01, 1998) (NO. S98A0697)
- 27.State v. Cafe Erotica, Inc., 269 Ga. 486, 500 S.E.2d 574, 98 FCDR 1769 (Ga., May 26, 1998) (NO. S98A0396)
- 28.Adams v. State, 269 Ga. 405, 498 S.E.2d 268, 98 FCDR 1423 (Ga., May 04, 1998) (NO. S98A0341)
- 29.Harrison v. Wigington, 269 Ga. 388, 497 S.E.2d 568, 98 FCDR 1260 (Ga., Apr 13, 1998) (NO. S98A0508)
- 30.State v. Jackson, 269 Ga. 308, 496 S.E.2d 912, 98 FCDR 901 (Ga., Mar 20, 1998) (NO. S97A1791)
- 31.Lowry v. McDuffie, 269 Ga. 202, 496 S.E.2d 727, 98 FCDR 893 (Ga., Mar 16, 1998) (NO. S97A2089, S97X2092)

- 32.LaFontaine v. State, 269 Ga. 251, 497 S.E.2d 367, 98 FCDR 897 (Ga., Mar 16, 1998)(NO. S97A1814)
- 33.Randolph v. State, 269 Ga. 147, 496 S.E.2d 258, 98 FCDR 741 (Ga., Mar 02, 1998) (NO. S97A1517)
- 34.Woodard v. State, 269 Ga. 317, 496 S.E.2d 896, 71 A.L.R.5th 787, 98 FCDR 743, 98 FCDR 127 (Ga., Mar 02, 1998) (NO. S97A1867)
- 35.Jenkins v. State, 269 Ga. 282, 498 S.E.2d 502 (Ga., Feb 23, 1998) (NO. S97P1474)
- 36.Rogers v. DeKalb County Bd. of Tax Assessors, 269 Ga. 31, 495 S.E.2d 33, 98 FCDR 386 (Ga., Feb 02, 1998) (NO. S97A1812)
- 37.Hussey v. Chatham County, 268 Ga. 871, 494 S.E.2d 510, 98 FCDR 236 (Ga., Jan 12, 1998) (NO. S97A2004)
- 38.Sears v. State, 268 Ga. 759, 493 S.E.2d 180, 97 FCDR 4321, 98 FCDR 152 (Ga., Dec 03, 1997) (NO. S97P0804)
- 39.DeYoung v. State, 268 Ga. 780, 493 S.E.2d 157, 97 FCDR 4248 (Ga., Nov 24, 1997) (NO. S97P0875)
- 40.Gee v. Professional Practices Com'n, 268 Ga. 491, 491 S.E.2d 375, 121 Ed. Law Rep. 849, 97 FCDR 3999 (Ga., Oct 14, 1997) (NO. S97A1075)
- 41.City of Lilburn v. Sanchez, 268 Ga. 520, 491 S.E.2d 353, 97 FCDR 3681 (Ga., Oct 06, 1997) (NO. S97A0678, S97A0870)
- 42.Berry v. State, 268 Ga. 437, 490 S.E.2d 389, 97 FCDR 3700 (Ga., Oct 06, 1997) (NO. S97A0598)
- 43.Campbell v. Department of Corrections, 268 Ga. 408, 490 S.E.2d 99, 97 FCDR 3496 (Ga., Sep 22, 1997) (NO. S97A0767)
- 44.Copeland v. State, 268 Ga. 375, 490 S.E.2d 68, 97 FCDR 3410 (Ga., Sep 15, 1997) (NO.S97A1013)
- 45.Fantasia v. State, 268 Ga. 512, 491 S.E.2d 318, 97 FCDR 3426 (Ga., Sep 15, 1997) (NO. S97A0611)
- 46.Dee v. Sweet, 268 Ga. 346, 489 S.E.2d 823, RICO Bus.Disp.Guide 9352, 97 FCDR 3398 (Ga., Sep 15, 1997) (NO. S97A0563)
- 47.Phagan v. State, 268 Ga. 272, 486 S.E.2d 876, 97 FCDR 2622 (Ga., Jul 16, 1997) (NO. S97A0161)
- 48.Turner v. State, 268 Ga. 213, 486 S.E.2d 839, 79 A.L.R.5th 723, 97 FCDR 2633 (Ga., Jul 14, 1997) (NO. S97A0424)
- 49. Wallace v. State Bar of Georgia, 268 Ga. 166, 486 S.E.2d 165, 97 FCDR 2423 (Ga., Jun 30, 1997) (NO. S97A0683)
- 50.In re T.B., 268 Ga. 149, 486 S.E.2d 177, 97 FCDR 2342 (Ga., Jun 30, 1997) (NO. S97A0167)
- 51.Campbell v. State, 268 Ga. 44, 485 S.E.2d 185, 97 FCDR 1641 (Ga., May 12, 1997) (NO. S97A0556, S97A0557)
- 52.Hall v. State, 268 Ga. 89, 485 S.E.2d 755, 97 FCDR 1635 (Ga., May 12, 1997) (NO. S97A0300)
- 53.Lane v. City of Atlanta, 267 Ga. 843, 483 S.E.2d 575, 117 Ed. Law Rep. 790, 97 FCDR 1244 (Ga., Apr 14, 1997) (NO. S97A0390)

- 54. Walton v. State, 267 Ga. 713, 482 S.E.2d 330, 97 FCDR 890 (Ga., Mar 17, 1997) (NO. S96A1639)
- 55.Goldrush II v. City of Marietta, 267 Ga. 683, 482 S.E.2d 347, 97 FCDR 874 (Ga., Mar 17, 1997) (NO. S96A1494, S96A1496, S96A1497)
- 56.O.S. Advertising Co. of Georgia, Inc. v. Rubin, 267 Ga. 723, 482 S.E.2d 295, 97 FCDR 793 (Ga., Mar 10, 1997) (NO. S96A1690)
- 57.Banks v. Georgia Power Co., 267 Ga. 602, 481 S.E.2d 200, Util. L. Rep. P 26,590, 97 FCDR 521 (Ga., Feb 17, 1997) (NO. S96G0894)
- 58.Berry v. State, 267 Ga. 605, 481 S.E.2d 203, 97 FCDR 528 (Ga., Feb 17, 1997) (NO. S96A1340, S96A1343)
- 59. Turner v. State, 267 Ga. 149, 476 S.E.2d 252 (Ga., Oct 07, 1996) (NO. S96A0693)
- 60.Ford v. Uniroyal Goodrich Tire Co., 267 Ga. 226, 476 S.E.2d 565, Prod.Liab.Rep. (CCH) P 14,761 (Ga., Oct 07, 1996) (NO. S95G1892, S95G1897)
- 61.Sharpe v. Department of Transp., 267 Ga. 267, 476 S.E.2d 722, 96 FCDR 3972 (Ga., Oct 07, 1996) (NO. S96G0546)
- 62.Bankers Ins. Co. v. Taylor, 267 Ga. 134, 475 S.E.2d 619 (Ga., Sep 23, 1996) (NO. S96A1167)
- 63.City of Atlanta v. Watson, 267 Ga. 185, 475 S.E.2d 896 (Ga., Sep 23, 1996) (NO. S96G0600)
- 64.Miller v. State, 266 Ga. 850, 472 S.E.2d 74 (Ga., Jul 01, 1996) (NO. S96A0167)
- 65.Ortiz v. State, 266 Ga. 752, 470 S.E.2d 874 (Ga., Jun 03, 1996) (NO. S96A0585)
- 66.Secret Desires Lingerie, Inc. v. City of Atlanta, 266 Ga. 760, 470 S.E.2d 879,
- 64 USLW 2799 (Ga., Jun 03, 1996) (NO. S96A0667, S96A0668)
- 67.Davis v. State, 266 Ga. 801, 471 S.E.2d 191 (Ga., May 20, 1996) (NO. S96A0181)
- 68.Atlanta Independent School System v. Lane, 266 Ga. 657, 469 S.E.2d 22, 108 Ed. Law Rep. 1297 (Ga., Apr 08, 1996) (NO. S96A0160, S96A0163, S96X0162)
- 69.Threatt v. Fulton County, 266 Ga. 466, 467 S.E.2d 546 (Ga., Mar 11, 1996) (NO. S95A1533)
- 70.Union City Bd. of Zoning Appeals v. Justice Outdoor Displays, Inc., 266 Ga. 393, 467 S.E.2d 875 (Ga., Mar 11, 1996) (NO. S95A1976, S95X1979, S95A1978, S95X1977)
- 71.Christensen v. State, 266 Ga. 474, 468 S.E.2d 188 (Ga., Mar 11, 1996) (NO. S95A1586)
- 72.Chambers v. Peach County, 266 Ga. 318, 467 S.E.2d 519 (Ga., Mar 04, 1996) (NO. S95A1967)
- 73.Powell v. City of Snellville, 266 Ga. 315, 467 S.E.2d 540 (Ga., Mar 04, 1996) (NO. S95A1592)
- 74.Larry v. State, 266 Ga. 284, 466 S.E.2d 850 (Ga., Feb 19, 1996) (NO. S95A2013)
- 75.Bishop v. State, 265 Ga. 821, 462 S.E.2d 716 (Ga., Oct 16, 1995) (NO. S95A1359)
- 76.Jackson v. Spalding County, 265 Ga. 792, 462 S.E.2d 361 (Ga., Sep 25, 1995) (NO. S95A1259, S95A1260)
- 77.Benton v. State, 265 Ga. 648, 461 S.E.2d 202 (Ga., Jul 28, 1995) (NO. S95A0471)

- 78.McMichen v. State, 265 Ga. 598, 458 S.E.2d 833 (Ga., Jul 14, 1995) (NO. S95P0209)
- 79. Allen v. Thomas, 265 Ga. 518, 458 S.E.2d 107 (Ga., Jun 12, 1995) (NO. S95A0212)
- 80.Georgia Dept. of Human Resources v. Word, 265 Ga. 461, 458 S.E.2d 110 (Ga., Jun 12, 1995) (NO. S95A0411)
- 81. Connally v. State, 265 Ga. 563, 458 S.E.2d 336 (Ga., Jun 05, 1995) (NO. S95A0511)
- 82.Club Southern Burlesque, Inc. v. City of Carrollton, 265 Ga. 528, 457 S.E.2d 816 (Ga., Jun 05, 1995) (NO. S95A0432)
- 83. Woodard v. Laurens County, 265 Ga. 404, 456 S.E.2d 581 (Ga., May 15, 1995) (NO. S95A0462)
- 84.Stephens v. State, 265 Ga. 356, 456 S.E.2d 560 (Ga., Mar 30, 1995) (NO. S94A1854)
- 85.Brooks v. Parkerson, 265 Ga. 189, 454 S.E.2d 769, 63 USLW 2640 (Ga., Mar 17, 1995) (NO. S94A1451)
- 86.City of Atlanta v. McKinney, 265 Ga. 161, 454 S.E.2d 517, 67 Fair Empl.Prac.Cas. (BNA) 646, 19 Employee Benefits Cas. 1065 (Ga., Mar 14, 1995) (NO. S94A1610, S94X1612)
- 87. Collins v. American Tel. & Tel. Co., 265 Ga. 37, 456 S.E.2d 50 (Ga., Feb 20, 1995) (NO. S94A1367)
- 88.International Business Machines Corp. v. Evans, 265 Ga. 215, 453 S.E.2d 706 (Ga., Feb 20, 1995) (NO. S95A0072)
- 89.Marr v. Georgia Dept. of Educ., 264 Ga. 841, 452 S.E.2d 112, 96 Ed. Law Rep. 1200 (Ga., Jan 18, 1995) (NO. S95D0641)

#### Iowa

- 1.Seeman v. Iowa Dept. of Human Services, 604 N.W.2d 53 (Iowa, Dec 22, 1999) (NO. 98-1226)
- 2.State v. Rubino, 602 N.W.2d 558 (Iowa, Nov 17, 1999) (NO. 98-251)
- 3.State v. Pace, 602 N.W.2d 764 (Iowa, Nov 17, 1999) (NO. 98-930)
- 4.State v. Mann, 602 N.W.2d 785 (Iowa, Nov 17, 1999) (NO. 98-1417)
- 5.Sanford v. Manternach, 601 N.W.2d 360 (Iowa, Oct 13, 1999) (NO. 206, 97-1769)
- 6.State v. Allen, 601 N.W.2d 689 (Iowa, Oct 13, 1999) (NO. 217, 98-1268)
- 7.Kuta v. Newberg, 600 N.W.2d 280 (Iowa, Sep 09, 1999) (NO. 135, 97-1605)
- 8.State v. Nelson, 600 N.W.2d 598 (Iowa, Sep 09, 1999) (NO. 98-1182)
- 9.State v. Mulvany, 600 N.W.2d 291 (Iowa, Sep 09, 1999) (NO. 98-963)
- 10.State v. Ramirez, 597 N.W.2d 795 (Iowa, Jul 08, 1999) (NO. 146, 97-2012)
- 11.State ex rel. Miller v. DeCoster, 596 N.W.2d 898 (Iowa, Jul 08, 1999) (NO. 97-666)
- 12.State v. Taylor, 596 N.W.2d 55 (Iowa, Jun 03, 1999) (NO. 99, 98-273)
- 13.State v. Stoen, 596 N.W.2d 504 (Iowa, Jun 03, 1999) (NO. 112, 98-435)
- 14.State v. Canas, 597 N.W.2d 488 (Iowa, Jun 03, 1999) (NO. 117, 98-1030)
- 15.State v. Hamrick, 595 N.W.2d 492 (Iowa, Jun 03, 1999) (NO. 123, 97-2179)
- 16. Iowa Dept. of Transp. v. Iowa Dist. Court for Pottawattamie County, 592

# N.W.2d 41 (Iowa, Apr 28, 1999) (NO. 97-2214, 91)

- 17.Fenske v. State, 592 N.W.2d 333 (Iowa, Mar 24, 1999) (NO. 206, 97-608)
- 18.Iowa Telephone Ass'n v. City of Hawarden, 589 N.W.2d 245 (Iowa, Feb 17, 1999) (NO. 97-83)
- 19.State v. Kotlers, 589 N.W.2d 736 (Iowa, Feb 17, 1999) (NO. 291, 97-1624)
- 20. Callender v. Skiles, 591 N.W.2d 182 (Iowa, Feb 17, 1999) (NO. 276, 98-308)
- 21.Jim O. Inc. v. City of Cedar Rapids, 587 N.W.2d 476 (Iowa, Dec 23, 1998) (NO. 97-875)
- 22.State v. Daniels, 588 N.W.2d 682 (Iowa, Dec 23, 1998) (NO. 269, 97-1957)
- 23.State v. Axton, 587 N.W.2d 779 (Iowa, Dec 23, 1998) (NO. 274, 97-1739)
- 24.Dave Ostrem Imports, Inc. v. Globe American Cas./GRE Ins. Group, 586 N.W.2d 366 (Iowa, Nov 25, 1998) (NO. 97-316)
- 25.Iowa Dept. of Transp. v. Iowa District Court for Linn County, 586 N.W.2d 374 (Iowa, Nov 25, 1998) (NO. 97-973)
- 26.State v. Hoskins, 586 N.W.2d 707 (Iowa, Nov 25, 1998) (NO. 97-2073)
- 27.State v. Ceaser, 585 N.W.2d 192 (Iowa, Sep 23, 1998) (NO. 97-1754, 175)
- 28.State v. Leutfaimany, 585 N.W.2d 200 (Iowa, Sep 23, 1998) (NO. 185, 97-1057)
- 29.Bormann v. Board of Sup'rs In and For Kossuth County, 584 N.W.2d 309, 29 Envtl. L. Rep. 20,235 (Iowa, Sep 23, 1998) (NO. 192, 96-2276)
- 30.Fisher v. McCrary-Rost Clinic, P.C., 580 N.W.2d 723 (Iowa, Jul 01, 1998) (NO. 140/97-58)
- 31.Stanley v. Fitzgerald, 580 N.W.2d 742 (Iowa, Jul 01, 1998) (NO. 106/96-1475)
- 32.Metz v. Amoco Oil Co., 581 N.W.2d 597 (Iowa, Jul 01, 1998) (NO. 132/96-1485)
- 33.State v. Lara, 580 N.W.2d 783 (Iowa, Jul 01, 1998) (NO. 131/97-600)
- 34.Allen v. Iowa Dist. Court for Polk County, 582 N.W.2d 506 (Iowa, Jul 01, 1998) (NO. 147/97-997)
- 35.Norland v. Grinnell Mut. Reinsurance Co., 578 N.W.2d 239 (Iowa, May 28, 1998) (NO. 120, 96-1968)
- 36.Key v. State, 577 N.W.2d 637 (Iowa, Apr 22, 1998) (NO. 96-614, 59)
- 37.Sherman v. Pella Corp., 576 N.W.2d 312 (Iowa, Mar 25, 1998) (NO. 96-1231, 11)
- 38.State v. Breuer, 577 N.W.2d 41 (Iowa, Mar 25, 1998) (NO. 47, 96-1802)
- 39.Goodell v. Humboldt County, 575 N.W.2d 486 (Iowa, Mar 05, 1998) (NO. 312/97-790)
- 40.Osborn v. State, 573 N.W.2d 917 (Iowa, Feb 18, 1998) (NO. 4/94-684)
- 41.State v. Countryman, 573 N.W.2d 265 (Iowa, Jan 21, 1998) (NO. 333/96-509)
- 42.Goodenow v. City Council of Maquoketa, Iowa, 574 N.W.2d 18 (Iowa, Jan 21, 1998) (NO. 350/96-1626)
- 43.State v. Ross, 573 N.W.2d 906 (Iowa, Jan 21, 1998) (NO. 359/96-1780)
- 44.State v. Orozco, 573 N.W.2d 22 (Iowa, Dec 24, 1997) (NO. 292, 96-1623)
- 45.State v. Pickett, 573 N.W.2d 245 (Iowa, Dec 24, 1997) (NO. 303, 97-225)
- 46.State v. Ceron, 573 N.W.2d 587 (Iowa, Dec 24, 1997) (NO. 320, 97-171)
- 47.State v. Bell, 572 N.W.2d 910 (Iowa, Dec 24, 1997) (NO. 287, 96-2254)

- 48.State v. Jefferson, 574 N.W.2d 268 (Iowa, Dec 24, 1997) (NO. 301, 96-1678, 302, 96-1603)
- 49.Iowa Supreme Court Bd. of Professional Ethics and Conduct v. Kirlin, 570 N.W.2d 643 (Iowa, Nov 26, 1997) (NO. 284, 97-773)
- 50.Utilicorp United Inc. v. Iowa Utilities Bd., Utilities Div., Dept. of Commerce, 570 N.W.2d 451, Util. L. Rep. P 26,640 (Iowa, Nov 26, 1997) (NO. 170, 96-1399)
- 51.State v. Milner, 571 N.W.2d 7 (Iowa, Oct 22, 1997) (NO. 250, 96-1424)
- 52.State v. McCright, 569 N.W.2d 605 (Iowa, Oct 22, 1997) (NO. 228, 96-1694)
- 53.Iowa Supreme Court Bd. of Professional Ethics & Conduct v. Wherry, 569 N.W.2d 822 (Iowa, Oct 22, 1997) (NO. 243 / 97-777)
- 54.State v. Moriarty, 566 N.W.2d 866 (Iowa, Jul 23, 1997) (NO. 96-1479, 174)
- 55.State v. Otto, 566 N.W.2d 509 (Iowa, Jul 23, 1997) (NO. 96-824, 176)
- 56.Kulish v. Ellsworth, 566 N.W.2d 885 (Iowa, Jul 23, 1997) (NO. 95-1837, 106)
- 57.Putensen v. Hawkeye Bank of Clay County, 564 N.W.2d 404 (Iowa, Jun 18, 1997) (NO. 96-674, 86)
- 58.State v. Atley, 564 N.W.2d 817 (Iowa, Jun 18, 1997) (NO. 327, 95-1133)
- 59.State v. Brecunier, 564 N.W.2d 365 (Iowa, May 21, 1997) (NO. 49/95-1555)
- 60.State v. Veal, 564 N.W.2d 797 (Iowa, May 21, 1997) (NO. 119/95-2002)
- 61.State v. Griffin, 564 N.W.2d 370 (Iowa, May 21, 1997) (NO. 97/95-1148)
- 62.State v. Doran, 563 N.W.2d 620 (Iowa, May 21, 1997) (NO. 74/96-437)
- 63.State v. Perez, 563 N.W.2d 625 (Iowa, May 21, 1997) (NO. 100/96-521)
- 64.Baker v. City of Ottumwa, 560 N.W.2d 578 (Iowa, Mar 26, 1997) (NO. 1, 96-32)
- 65.In re Marriage of Seyler, 559 N.W.2d 7 (Iowa, Feb 19, 1997) (NO. 4, 96-198)
- 66.State v. Pickens, 558 N.W.2d 396 (Iowa, Jan 22, 1997) (NO. 338, 96-66)
- 67.In Interest of S.M.M., 558 N.W.2d 405 (Iowa, Jan 22, 1997) (NO. 96-576, 339)
- 68. Wilson v. IBP, Inc., 558 N.W.2d 132 (Iowa, Dec 18, 1996) (NO. 95-477)
- 69.Iowa Supreme Court Bd. of Professional Ethics and Conduct v. Ronwin, 557 N.W.2d 515 (Iowa, Dec 18, 1996) (NO. 96-378)
- 70.State v. Taylor, 557 N.W.2d 523 (Iowa, Dec 18, 1996) (NO. 95-716)
- 71.State ex rel. Allee v. Gocha, 555 N.W.2d 683 (Iowa, Nov 20, 1996) (NO. 287, 95-550)
- 72.Iowa Coal Min. Co., Inc. v. Monroe County, 555 N.W.2d 418 (Iowa, Oct 23, 1996) (NO.95-198)
- 73.Lewis v. Iowa Dist. Court for Des Moines County, 555 N.W.2d 216 (Iowa, Oct 23, 1996) (NO. 95-561, 95-562)
- 74.State v. Randle, 555 N.W.2d 666 (Iowa, Oct 23, 1996) (NO. 95-1058)
- 75.Norgard v. Iowa Dept. of Transp., 555 N.W.2d 226 (Iowa, Oct 23, 1996) (NO. 95-1025)
- 76.Medco Behavioral Care Corp. of Iowa v. State, Dept. of Human Services, 553 N.W.2d 556 (Iowa, Jul 24, 1996) (NO. 94-1875)
- 77.Frunzar v. Allied Property and Cas. Ins. Co., 548 N.W.2d 880 (Iowa, May 22, 1996) (NO. 95-245)
- 78.State v. Osmundson, 546 N.W.2d 907 (Iowa, Apr 17, 1996) (NO. 85, 94-2015)

- 79.State v. Smith, 546 N.W.2d 916 (Iowa, Apr 17, 1996) (NO. 52, 95-1077)
- 80.IES Utilities Inc. v. Iowa Dept. of Revenue and Finance, 545 N.W.2d 536 (Iowa, Mar 20, 1996) (NO. 370, 94-1987)
- 81.State v. White, 545 N.W.2d 552 (Iowa, Mar 20, 1996) (NO. 16, 95-710)
- 82.Kulish v. West Side Unlimited Corp., 545 N.W.2d 860 (Iowa, Mar 20, 1996) (NO. 95-48, 54)
- 83.Iowa Supreme Court Bd. of Professional Ethics and Conduct v. D.J.I., 545 N.W.2d 866 (Iowa, Mar 20, 1996) (NO. 50, 95-1801)
- 84.Des Moines Register and Tribune Co. v. Dwyer, 542 N.W.2d 491 (Iowa, Jan 17, 1996) (NO. 94-901)
- 85.State v. Jackson, 542 N.W.2d 842 (Iowa, Jan 17, 1996) (NO. 367, 94-1592)
- 86.Dressler v. Iowa Dept. of Transp., 542 N.W.2d 563 (Iowa, Jan 17, 1996) (NO. 383, 94-1945)
- 87. James v. State, 541 N.W.2d 864 (Iowa, Dec 20, 1995) (NO. 95-298)
- 88.State v. Thomas, 540 N.W.2d 658 (Iowa, Nov 22, 1995) (NO. 269, 94-1765)
- 89.Frideres v. Schiltz, 540 N.W.2d 261 (Iowa, Nov 22, 1995) (NO. 94-400)
- 90.State v. Halliburton, 539 N.W.2d 339 (Iowa, Oct 25, 1995) (NO. 94-388)
- 91.Gravert v. Nebergall, 539 N.W.2d 184 (Iowa, Oct 25, 1995) (NO. 94-1153)
- 92.Holiday Inns Franchising, Inc. v. Branstad, 537 N.W.2d 724 (Iowa, Sep 20, 1995) (NO.94-954)
- 93.State v. Dixon, 534 N.W.2d 435 (Iowa, Jul 19, 1995) (NO. 94-1762)
- 94.State v. Beckett, 532 N.W.2d 751 (Iowa, May 24, 1995) (NO. 123, 94-1377)
- 95.Johnston v. Veterans' Plaza Authority, 535 N.W.2d 131 (Iowa, May 24, 1995) (NO.106/93-1700)
- 96.State v. Lange, 531 N.W.2d 108 (Iowa, Apr 26, 1995) (NO. 93-1028)
- 97.State v. Loyd, 530 N.W.2d 708 (Iowa, Apr 26, 1995) (NO. 94-974)
- 98.Matter of Guardianship of Hedin, 528 N.W.2d 567 (Iowa, Mar 29, 1995) (NO. 93-1460)
- 99.State v. Gay, 526 N.W.2d 294 (Iowa, Jan 18, 1995) (NO. 93-1777)

## Kansas

- 1. State v. Mason, 268 Kan. 37, 986 P.2d 387 (Kan., Oct 29, 1999) (NO. 80,385)
- 2. State v. Rucker, 267 Kan. 816, 987 P.2d 1080 (Kan., Jul 16, 1999) (NO. 80106, 80753)
- 3. State v. Wilson, 267 Kan. 550, 987 P.2d 1060 (Kan., Jul 09, 1999) (NO. 80,657, 80,658)
- 4. Battrick v. State, 267 Kan. 389, 985 P.2d 707 (Kan., May 28, 1999) (NO. 80,337)
- 5. In re Order to Summon Grand Jury, 267 Kan. 72, 979 P.2d 672 (Kan., Apr 16, 1999) (NO. 80,015)
- 6. Sammons v. Simmons, 267 Kan. 155, 976 P.2d 505 (Kan., Apr 16, 1999) (NO. 80,521)
- 7. State v. Snodgrass, 267 Kan. 185, 979 P.2d 664 (Kan., Apr 16, 1999) (NO. 81,173, 81,174)

- 8. State v. Crow, 266 Kan. 690, 974 P.2d 100 (Kan., Jan 29, 1999) (NO. 79,287)
- 9. Board of Sedgwick County Com'rs v. Action Rent To Own, Inc., 266 Kan. 293, 969 P.2d 844 (Kan., Dec 11, 1998) (NO. 79,422)
- 10. State v. Perry, 266 Kan. 224, 968 P.2d 674 (Kan., Nov 13, 1998) (NO. 78,139)
- 11. Board of Educ. of Unified School Dist. No. 443, Ford County v. Kansas State Bd. of Educ., 266 Kan. 75, 966 P.2d 68, 130 Ed. Law Rep. 308 (Kan., Oct 30, 1998) (NO. 80,000)
- 12. State ex rel. Tomasic v. Unified Government of Wyandotte County/Kansas City, Kan., 265 Kan. 779, 962 P.2d 543 (Kan., Jul 10, 1998) (NO. 81,074)
- 13. State v. Mincey, 265 Kan. 257, 963 P.2d 403 (Kan., Jun 05, 1998) (NO. 75,599)
- 14. State v. Scott, 265 Kan. 1, 961 P.2d 667 (Kan., May 29, 1998) (NO. 75,684)
- 15. State v. Becker, 264 Kan. 804, 958 P.2d 627 (Kan., Apr 24, 1998) (NO. 79,440)
- 16. Kennedy v. Board of County Com'rs of Shawnee County, 264 Kan. 776, 958 P.2d 637 (Kan., Apr 24, 1998) (NO. 79,164)
- 17. Matter of Vanderblomen, 264 Kan. 676, 956 P.2d 1320 (Kan., Apr 17, 1998) (NO. 79,424)
- 18. State v. Heath, 264 Kan. 557, 957 P.2d 449 (Kan., Apr 17, 1998) (NO. 77,538)
- 19. Smith v. State, 264 Kan. 348, 955 P.2d 1293 (Kan., Mar 13, 1998) (NO. 78,509)
- 20. State ex rel. Tomasic v. Unified Government of Wyandotte County/Kansas City, Kan., 264 Kan. 293, 955 P.2d 1136 (Kan., Mar 06, 1998) (NO. 80,223)
- 21. Adams v. St. Francis Regional Medical Center, 264 Kan. 144, 955 P.2d 1169 (Kan., Mar 06, 1998) (NO. 77,848)
- 22.State v. Smallwood, 264 Kan. 69, 955 P.2d 1209 (Kan., Mar 06, 1998) (NO. 77,097)
- 23.Board of County Com'rs of Johnson County v. Grant, 264 Kan. 58, 954 P.2d 695 (Kan., Mar 06, 1998) (NO. 76,608)
- 24. State v. Edwards, 264 Kan. 177, 955 P.2d 1276 (Kan., Mar 06, 1998) (NO. 77, 966)
- 25.Matter of Hay, 263 Kan. 822, 953 P.2d 666 (Kan., Jan 30, 1998) (NO. 74,112)
- 26. Graham v. State, 263 Kan. 742, 952 P.2d 1266 (Kan., Jan 23, 1998) (NO. 78,178)
- 27.State v. Bailey, 263 Kan. 685, 952 P.2d 1289 (Kan., Jan 23, 1998) (NO. 77,657, 77,805)
- 28.State v. Sanders, 263 Kan. 317, 949 P.2d 1084 (Kan., Dec 12, 1997) (NO. 76,807)
- 29.State v. Roseborough, 263 Kan. 378, 951 P.2d 532 (Kan., Dec 12, 1997) (NO. 77,718)
- 30.State v. Cellier, 263 Kan. 54, 948 P.2d 616 (Kan., Oct 31, 1997) (NO. 74,976)
- 31.State v. Lee, 263 Kan. 97, 948 P.2d 641 (Kan., Oct 31, 1997) (NO. 76,483)
- 32.Injured Workers of Kansas v. Franklin, 262 Kan. 840, 942 P.2d 591 (Kan., Jul 18, 1997) (NO. 77,142, 77,561)
- 33. State v. Heironimus, 262 Kan. 796, 941 P.2d 1356 (Kan., Jul 11, 1997) (NO. 77,733)
- 34. Weinlood v. Simmons, 262 Kan. 259, 936 P.2d 238 (Kan., Apr 18, 1997) (NO. 77,916)
- 35. Roark v. Graves, 262 Kan. 194, 936 P.2d 245 (Kan., Apr 18, 1997) (NO. 76,511)
- 36. State v. Ninci, 262 Kan. 21, 936 P.2d 1364 (Kan., Apr 18, 1997) (NO. 74,725)

- 37. Lemuz By and Through Lemuz v. Fieser, 261 Kan. 936, 933 P.2d 134 (Kan., Mar 07, 1997) (NO. 76,624)
- 38. State v. Robinson, 261 Kan. 865, 934 P.2d 38 (Kan., Mar 07, 1997) (NO. 75,808)
- 39. Application of Kaul, 261 Kan. 755, 933 P.2d 717 (Kan., Mar 07, 1997) (NO. 74,528)
- 40. Williams Natural Gas Co. v. Supra Energy, Inc., 261 Kan. 624, 931 P.2d 7, 136 Oil & Gas Rep. 26, Util. L. Rep. P 26,589 (Kan., Jan 31, 1997) (NO. 74,690)
- 41. State v. Bornholdt, 261 Kan. 644, 932 P.2d 964 (Kan., Jan 31, 1997) (NO. 75,185)
- 42. Appeal of Boeing Co., 261 Kan. 508, 930 P.2d 1366 (Kan., Jan 24, 1997) (NO. 75,702)
- 43. State v. Aikins, 261 Kan. 346, 932 P.2d 408 (Kan., Jan 24, 1997) (NO. 74,582)
- 44. Peden v. State, 261 Kan. 239, 930 P.2d 1 (Kan., Dec 20, 1996) (NO. 75,205)
- 45. Bonin v. Vannaman, 261 Kan. 199, 929 P.2d 754 (Kan., Dec 20, 1996) (NO. 75,014)
- 46. Kansas Public Employees Retirement System v. Reimer & Koger Associates, Inc., 261 Kan. 17, 927 P.2d 466 (Kan., Dec 06, 1996) (NO. 74,394, 74395)
- 47. Gleason v. Samaritan Home, 260 Kan. 970, 926 P.2d 1349 (Kan., Nov 08, 1996) (NO.74,710)
- 48. State v. Vargas, 260 Kan. 791, 926 P.2d 223 (Kan., Oct 25, 1996) (NO. 73,698)
- 49. State v. Myers, 260 Kan. 669, 923 P.2d 1024 (Kan., Aug 23, 1996) (NO. 74,078)
- 50. Amos v. Nelson, 260 Kan. 652, 923 P.2d 1014 (Kan., Aug 16, 1996) (NO. 74,170)
- 51. State v. Green, 260 Kan. 471, 920 P.2d 414 (Kan., Jul 12, 1996) (NO. 74,199)
- 52. Robinson v. Kansas State High School Activities Ass'n, Inc., 260 Kan. 136, 917 P.2d 836, 110 Ed. Law Rep. 435 (Kan., May 31, 1996) (NO. 74,817)
- 53. State v. Chiles, 260 Kan. 75, 917 P.2d 866 (Kan., May 31, 1996) (NO. 74,075)
- 54. Davidson v. Denning, 259 Kan. 659, 914 P.2d 936 (Kan., Apr 19, 1996) (NO. 71,776, 72,260)
- 55. State v. Jensen, 259 Kan. 781, 915 P.2d 109 (Kan., Apr 19, 1996) (NO. 73,406, 73,467, 73,578)
- 56. State Bd. of Nursing v. Ruebke, 259 Kan. 599, 913 P.2d 142, 64 USLW 2605 (Kan., Mar 15, 1996) (NO. 73,851)
- 57. Moorhouse v. City of Wichita, 259 Kan. 570, 913 P.2d 172 (Kan., Mar 15, 1996) (NO. 73,436)
- 58. Sheila A. by Balloun v. Whiteman, 259 Kan. 549, 913 P.2d 181 (Kan., Mar 15, 1996) (NO. 73,288)
- 59. Matter of Care and Treatment of Hendricks, 259 Kan. 246, 912 P.2d 129, 64 USLW 2596 (Kan., Mar 01, 1996) (NO. 73,039)
- 60.Farris v. McKune, 259 Kan. 181, 911 P.2d 177 (Kan., Feb 02, 1996) (NO. 72,418, 72,666, 72,853)
- 61.State v. Bryan, 259 Kan. 143, 910 P.2d 212, 106 Ed. Law Rep. 905 (Kan., Jan 26, 1996) (NO. 73,978)

- 62. Labette Community College v. Board of County Com'rs of County of Crawford, 258 Kan. 622, 907 P.2d 127, 105 Ed. Law Rep. 760 (Kan., Dec 08, 1995) (NO. 72,062)
- 63. State v. Ponce, 258 Kan. 708, 907 P.2d 876 (Kan., Dec 08, 1995) (NO. 72,871)

### Michigan

- 1.People v. Washington, 461 Mich. 294, 602 N.W.2d 824 (Mich., Nov 30, 1999) (NO. 111895)
- 2.McDougall v. Schanz, 461 Mich. 15, 597 N.W.2d 148 (Mich., Jul 30, 1999) (NO. 107956, 110707)
- 3.People v. Borchard-Ruhland, 460 Mich. 278, 597 N.W.2d 1 (Mich., Jul 01, 1999) (NO. 112436)
- 4.Federated Publications, Inc. v. Board of Trustees of Michigan State Univ., 460 Mich. 75, 594 N.W.2d 491, 135 Ed. Law Rep. 242 (Mich., Jun 15, 1999) (NO. 109663)
- 5.City of Rochester Hills v. Schultz, 459 Mich. 486, 592 N.W.2d 69 (Mich., Apr 27, 1999) (NO. 110294)
- 6.Straus v. Governor, 459 Mich. 526, 592 N.W.2d 53 (Mich., Apr 27, 1999) (NO. 112401)
- 7.Judicial Attorneys Ass'n v. State, 459 Mich. 291, 586 N.W.2d 894 (Mich., Dec 28, 1998) (NO. 111782, 111785)
- 8. People v. Neal, 459 Mich. 72, 586 N.W.2d 716 (Mich., Dec 15, 1998) (NO. 108016)
- 9.Klinke v. Mitsubishi Motors Corp., 458 Mich. 582, 581 N.W.2d 272, Prod.Liab.Rep. (CCH) P 15,313 (Mich., Jul 31, 1998) (NO. 107730, 107732, 107731)
- 10.Mudge v. Macomb County, 458 Mich. 87, 580 N.W.2d 845 (Mich., Jul 01, 1998) (NO. 103985)
- 11.People v. Sexton, 458 Mich. 43, 580 N.W.2d 404 (Mich., Jul 01, 1998) (NO. 108195, 108749, 109143)
- 12.Massey v. Secretary of State, 457 Mich. 410, 579 N.W.2d 862 (Mich., May 26, 1998) (NO. 112047)
- 13.PRESTINE MASSEY, GERALD L. ERVIN, and ROSETTA WILLIAMS PERKINS, Plaintiffs-Appellants, v. SECRETARY OF STATE, Defendant-Appellee, TAXPAYERS UNITED FOR TERM LIMITATIONS, Intervening Defendant-Appellee., --- N.W.2d --, 1999 WL 111515 (Mich., Mar 05, 1999) (NO. NO. 112047)
- 14.North Ottawa Community Hosp. v. Kieft, 457 Mich. 394, 578 N.W.2d 267 (Mich., May 19, 1998) (NO. 105156)
- 15.NORTH OTTAWA COMMUNITY HOSPITAL, Plaintiff-Appellee, v. BARBARA KIEFT, Defendant-Appellant., --- N.W.2d ----, 1999 WL 111500 (Mich., Mar 05, 1999) (NO. NO. 105156)
- 16.Vargo v. Sauer, 457 Mich. 49, 576 N.W.2d 656, 125 Ed. Law Rep. 866 (Mich., Apr 21, 1998) (NO. 106262)

- 17. LOIS VARGO, Personal Repre- sentative of ESTATE OF JANET VARGO,
  Deceased, Plaintiff-Appellant, v. HAROLD SAUER, M.D., Defendant-Appellee,
  SISTERS OF MERCY HEALTH CARE CORPORATION, doing business as T.
  LAWRENCE HOSPITAL, JAMES RAWLINSON, M.D., C.P. MAKHOUL,
  D.O. and B. LANDESS, CRNA, jointly and severally, Defendants., --- N.W.2d
  ----, 1999 WL 111998 (Mich., Mar 05, 1999) (NO. NO. 106262)
- 18.Gora v. City of Ferndale, 456 Mich. 704, 576 N.W.2d 141 (Mich., Apr 01, 1998) (NO. 106783)
- 19.HILDEGARD GORA, THE LOVING TOUCH, INC., JACQUELINE MAXWELL, LEA M. PERKINS, TRACI L. LEPRO and DAWN L. SPANGLER, Plaintiffs-Appellees, v. CITY OF FERNDALE, a Municipal body corporate of the State of Michigan; and VALERIE E. KITCHEN in her official capacity as City Clerk for the City of Ferndale, Defendants-Appellants., 1998 WL 795226 (Mich., Nov 18, 1998) (NO. NO. 106783)
- 20.People v. Budzyn, 456 Mich. 77, 566 N.W.2d 229 (Mich., Jul 31, 1997) (NO. 102654, 102655)
- 21.Durant v. State, 456 Mich. 175, 566 N.W.2d 272, 119 Ed. Law Rep. 1146 (Mich., Jul 31, 1997) (NO. 104458, 104459, 104460-104492)
- 22.Council of Organizations and Others for Educ. About Parochiaid, Inc. v. Governor, 455 Mich. 557, 566 N.W.2d 208, 120 Ed. Law Rep. 265, 78 A.L.R.5th 767 (Mich., Jul 30, 1997) (NO. 106092, 106106, 106109, 106093, 106107, 106110, 106094, 106108, 106111)
- 23.People v. Jendrzejewski, 455 Mich. 495, 566 N.W.2d 530 (Mich., Jul 29, 1997) (NO. 103374)
- 24.Rental Property Owners Ass'n of Kent County v. City of Grand Rapids, 455 Mich. 246, 566 N.W.2d 514 (Mich., Jul 15, 1997) (NO. 102642)
- 25.Macomb County Taxpayers Ass'n v. L'Anse Creuse Public Schools, 455 Mich. 1, 564 N.W.2d 457 (Mich., Jun 25, 1997) (NO. 104247)
- 26.People v. Belanger, 454 Mich. 571, 563 N.W.2d 665 (Mich., Jun 17, 1997) (NO. 104037)
- 27.People v. Denio, 454 Mich. 691, 564 N.W.2d 13 (Mich., Jun 17, 1997) (NO. 101601, 103191, 105328)
- 28.People v. Mitchell, 454 Mich. 145, 560 N.W.2d 600 (Mich., Mar 25, 1997) (NO. 98984, 98985)
- 29.Michigan State AFL-CIO v. Employment Relations Com'n, 453 Mich. 362, 551 N.W.2d 165, 111 Ed. Law Rep. 490 (Mich., Aug 02, 1996) (NO. 103918, 103937, 103938)
- 30.Quinton v. General Motors Corp., 453 Mich. 63, 551 N.W.2d 677 (Mich., Jul 30, 1996) (NO. 100787)
- 31.People v. Cheatham, 453 Mich. 1, 551 N.W.2d 355 (Mich., Jul 30, 1996) (NO. 102201)
- 32.Paragon Properties Co. v. City of Novi, 452 Mich. 568, 550 N.W.2d 772 (Mich., Jul 23, 1996) (NO. 100064)

- 33.Airlines Parking, Inc. v. Wayne County, 452 Mich. 527, 550 N.W.2d 490 (Mich., Jul 16, 1996) (NO. 98890)
- 34.Frame v. Nehls, 452 Mich. 171, 550 N.W.2d 739 (Mich., Jul 03, 1996) (NO. 102139)
- 35.Grand Traverse County v. State, 450 Mich. 457, 538 N.W.2d 1 (Mich., Aug 23, 1995) (NO. 98712, 98714)
- 36.Taxpayers Allied for Constitutional Taxation v. Wayne County, 450 Mich. 119, 537 N.W.2d 596 (Mich., Aug 22, 1995) (NO. 98987)
- 37.Detroit Fire Fighters Ass'n v. City of Detroit, 449 Mich. 629, 537 N.W.2d 436 (Mich., Aug 15, 1995) (NO. 96430)
- 38. People v. Garcia, 448 Mich. 442, 531 N.W.2d 683 (Mich., Apr 18, 1995) (NO. 98969, 6)

### **New Jersey**

- 1. State v. Timmendequas, 161 N.J. 515, 737 A.2d 55 (N.J., Aug 11, 1999) (NO. A-172 SEPT.TERM 1997)
- 2. State v. Simon, 161 N.J. 416, 737 A.2d 1 (N.J., Aug 11, 1999) (NO. A-149 SEPT.TERM 1997, A-150 SEPT.TERM 1997)
- 3. Dale v. Boy Scouts of America, 160 N.J. 562, 734 A.2d 1196 (N.J., Aug 04, 1999) (NO. A-195 SEPT.TERM 1997, A-196 SEPT.TERM 1997)
- 4. State v. Trump Hotels & Casino Resorts, Inc., 160 N.J. 505, 734 A.2d 1160 (N.J., Aug 02, 1999) (NO. A-225 SEPT.TERM 1997)
- 5. State, Tp. of Pennsauken v. Schad, 160 N.J. 156, 733 A.2d 1159 (N.J., Jul 28, 1999)(NO. A-198 SEPT.TERM 1997, A-197 SEPT.TERM 1997)
- 6. State v. Martini, 160 N.J. 248, 734 A.2d 257 (N.J., Jul 27, 1999) (NO. A-22SEPTTERM1997)
- 7. State v. Apprendi, 159 N.J. 7, 731 A.2d 485 (N.J., Jun 24, 1999) (NO. A-164 SEPT.TERM 1997)
- 8. State v. Cuni, 159 N.J. 584, 733 A.2d 414 (N.J., Jun 14, 1999) (NO. A-141 SEPT.TERM 1997)
- 9. 2nd Roc-Jersey Associates v. Town of Morristown, 158 N.J. 581, 731 A.2d 1 (N.J., May 13, 1999) (NO. A-137/138)
- 10. State v. Loftin, 157 N.J. 253, 724 A.2d 129 (N.J., Feb 01, 1999) (NO. A-86 SEPT. TERM 1996)
- 11. State v. Fisher, 156 N.J. 494, 721 A.2d 291 (N.J., Dec 23, 1998) (NO. A-177SEPT.TERM1997)
- 12. State v. Donis, 157 N.J. 44, 723 A.2d 35 (N.J., Dec 10, 1998) (NO. A-134 SEPT.TERM 1997)
- 13. State v. Feaster, 156 N.J. 1, 716 A.2d 395 (N.J., Jul 30, 1998) (NO. A-1 SEPT.TERM1997)
- 14. State v. Morton, 155 N.J. 383, 715 A.2d 228 (N.J., Jul 30, 1998) (NO. A-18 SEPT. TERM 1997, A-19 SEPT. TERM 1997)

- 15. State v. Nelson, 155 N.J. 487, 715 A.2d 281 (N.J., Jul 30, 1998) (NO. A-151 SEPT.TERM 1997)
- 16. State v. Harris, 156 N.J. 122, 716 A.2d 458 (N.J., Jul 30, 1998) (NO. A-17 SEPT.TERM 1997)
- 17. Hamilton Amusement Center v. Verniero, 156 N.J. 254, 716 A.2d 1137 (N.J., Jul 21, 1998) (NO. A-64 SEPT.TERM, 1997)
- 18. State v. One 1990 Honda Accord, New Jersey Registration No. HRB20D, VIN No. 1HGCB7659LA063293 and Four Hundred and Twenty Dollars, 154 N.J. 373, 712 A.2d 1148 (N.J., Jul 15, 1998) (NO. A-122 SEPT.TERM 1997)
- 19. State v. Citarella, 154 N.J. 272, 712 A.2d 1096 (N.J., Jun 26, 1998) (NO. A-93 SEPT. TERM 1997)
- 20.Mt. Hope Development Associates v. Mt. Hope Waterpower Project, L.P., 154 N.J. 141, 712 A.2d 180 (N.J., Jun 02, 1998) (NO. A-77 SEPT.TERM 1997)
- 21. Abbott by Abbott v. Burke, 153 N.J. 480, 710 A.2d 450, 126 Ed. Law Rep. 258 (N.J., May 21, 1998) (NO. A-155 SEPT.TERM.1997)
- New Jersey Transit PBA Local 304 v. New Jersey Transit Corp., 151 N.J. 531,
   701 A.2d 1243, 13 IER Cases 449 (N.J., Sep 25, 1997) (NO. A-130SEPT. TERM 1996)
- 23. State in Interest of J.G., 151 N.J. 565, 701 A.2d 1260 (N.J., Sep 25, 1997) (NO. A-74 SEPT.TERM 1996)
- 24. South Jersey Catholic School Teachers Organization v. St. Teresa of the Infant Jesus Church Elementary School, 150 N.J. 575, 696 A.2d 709, 155 L.R.R.M. (BNA) 2972, 119 Ed. Law Rep. 1035 (N.J., Jul 24, 1997) (NO. A-120 SEPT.TERM1996)
- 25.State v. Afanador, 151 N.J. 41, 697 A.2d 529 (N.J., Jul 23, 1997) (NO. A-146 SEPT.TERM 1996)
- 26.F.G. v. MacDonell, 150 N.J. 550, 696 A.2d 697 (N.J., Jul 22, 1997) (NO. A-125 SEPT.TERM 1996)
- 27.General Motors Corp. v. City of Linden, 150 N.J. 522, 696 A.2d 683 (N.J., Jul 21, 1997) (NO. A-106 SEPT.TERM 1996)
- 28.Spadoro v. Whitman, 150 N.J. 2, 695 A.2d 654 (N.J., Jun 30, 1997) (NO. A-212 SEPT.TERM 1996, C-1385SEPT.TERM 1996)
- 29.State v. Chew, 150 N.J. 30, 695 A.2d 1301 (N.J., Jun 26, 1997) (NO. A-77 SEPT.TERM 1996)
- 30.Brady v. Department of Personnel, 149 N.J. 244, 693 A.2d 466 (N.J., May 22, 1997) (NO. A-103SEPT.TERM1996)
- 31.Abbott by Abbott v. Burke, 149 N.J. 145, 693 A.2d 417, 118 Ed. Law Rep. 371 (N.J., May 14, 1997) (NO. M-622 SEPT.TERM1996)
- 32.State v. Marshall, 148 N.J. 89, 690 A.2d 1 (N.J., Mar 05, 1997) (NO. A-38 SEPT.TERM, 1995)
- 33. Whitaker v. DeVilla, 147 N.J. 341, 687 A.2d 738 (N.J., Feb 03, 1997) (NO. A-60 SEPT.TERM, 1996, A-61 SEPT.TERM, 1996, A-62 SEPT.TERM, 1996)

- 34. State v. Hightower, 146 N.J. 239, 680 A.2d 649 (N.J., Aug 08, 1996) (NO. A-22 SEPT.TERM 1995)
- 35. State v. Loftin, 146 N.J. 295, 680 A.2d 677 (N.J., Aug 08, 1996) (NO. A-39 SEPT.TERM 1995)
- 36. State v. Martini, 144 N.J. 603, 677 A.2d 1106 (N.J., Jun 28, 1996) (NO. A-164 SEPT.TERM 1995)
- 37. State v. Muhammad, 145 N.J. 23, 678 A.2d 164, 65 USLW 2123 (N.J., Jun 28, 1996) (NO. A-139 SEPT TERM 1995, A-138 SEPT.TERM 1995)
- 38. General Motors Corp. v. City of Linden, 143 N.J. 336, 671 A.2d 560 (N.J., Feb 29, 1996) (NO. A-66/109)
- 39.Rivkin v. Dover Tp. Rent Leveling Bd., 143 N.J. 352, 671 A.2d 567, 64 USLW 2571 (N.J., Feb 29, 1996) (NO. A-26)
- 40. Doe v. Poritz, 142 N.J. 1, 662 A.2d 367, 64 USLW 2085, 36 A.L.R.5th 711 (N.J., Jul 25, 1995) (NO. A-170 SEPT.TERM 1994, A-171 SEPT.TERM 1994)
- 41. State v. Storm, 141 N.J. 245, 661 A.2d 790 (N.J., Jul 17, 1995) (NO. A-150 SEPT.TERM.1994)
- 42. State v. Harris, 141 N.J. 525, 662 A.2d 333 (N.J., Jul 12, 1995) (NO. A-3 SEPT. TERM,1994)
- 43. State v. Haliski, 140 N.J. 1, 656 A.2d 1246 (N.J., Apr 20, 1995) (NO. A-59 SEPT TERM 1994)
- 44. Jacobs v. Stephens, 139 N.J. 212, 652 A.2d 712 (N.J., Jan 25, 1995) (NO. A-1 SEPT. TERM 1994)
- 45. McDonald v. Pinchak, 139 N.J. 188, 652 A.2d 700 (N.J., Jan 25, 1995) (NO. A-2 SEPT. TERM 1994)

## New York

- 1.In re Muhammad F., 94 N.Y.2d 136, 722 N.E.2d 45, 700 N.Y.S.2d 77, 1999 N.Y. Slip Op. 09997 (N.Y., Nov 30, 1999) (NO. 160, 161)
- 2.City of New York v. New York State Div. of Human Rights, 93 N.Y.2d 768, 720 N.E.2d 870, 698 N.Y.S.2d 594, 1999 N.Y. Slip Op. 08354 (N.Y., Oct 19, 1999) (NO. 163)
- 3.Cohen v. State, 94 N.Y.2d 1, 720 N.E.2d 850, 698 N.Y.S.2d 574, 1999 N.Y. Slip Op. 08345 (N.Y., Oct 14, 1999) (NO. 145)
- 4.Mark G. v. Sabol, 93 N.Y.2d 710, 717 N.E.2d 1067, 695 N.Y.S.2d 730 (N.Y., Aug 31, 1999) (NO. 96)
- 5.People v. Hale, 93 N.Y.2d 454, 714 N.E.2d 861, 692 N.Y.S.2d 649, 1999 N.Y. Slip Op. 05335 (N.Y., Jun 10, 1999) (NO. 117)
- 6.Grumet v. Pataki, 93 N.Y.2d 677, 720 N.E.2d 66, 697 N.Y.S.2d 846, 139 Ed. Law Rep. 986, 1999 N.Y. Slip Op. 04392 (N.Y., May 11, 1999) (NO. 38)
- 7.Rudder v. Pataki, 93 N.Y.2d 273, 711 N.E.2d 978, 689 N.Y.S.2d 701, 1999 N.Y. Slip Op. 04085 (N.Y., May 06, 1999) (NO. 61)

- 8.D'Amico v. Crosson, 93 N.Y.2d 29, 709 N.E.2d 465, 686 N.Y.S.2d 756, 1999 N.Y. Slip Op. 02625 (N.Y., Mar 25, 1999) (NO. 33)
- 9.In re Benjamin L., 92 N.Y.2d 660, 708 N.E.2d 156, 685 N.Y.S.2d 400, 1999 N.Y. Slip Op. 01384 (N.Y., Feb 11, 1999) (NO. 2NO.7)
- 10.Hynes v. Tomei, 92 N.Y.2d 613, 706 N.E.2d 1201, 684 N.Y.S.2d 177, 1998 N.Y. Slip Op. 11377 (N.Y., Dec 22, 1998) (NO. 146, 176)
- 11.Stahlbrodt v. Commissioner of Taxation and Finance of State of N.Y., 92 N.Y.2d 646, 707 N.E.2d 421, 684 N.Y.S.2d 466, 1998 N.Y. Slip Op. 11282 (N.Y., Dec 17, 1998) (NO. 187)
- 12.Schulz v. New York State Executive, 92 N.Y.2d 1, 699 N.E.2d 360, 677 N.Y.S.2d 1, 1998 N.Y. Slip Op. 05432 (N.Y., Jun 09, 1998) (NO. 47)
- 13.Tamagni v. Tax Appeals Tribunal of State, 91 N.Y.2d 530, 695 N.E.2d 1125, 673 N.Y.S.2d 44, 1998 N.Y. Slip Op. 04551 (N.Y., May 14, 1998) (NO. 45)
- 14.Henry v. Milonas, 91 N.Y.2d 264, 692 N.E.2d 554, 669 N.Y.S.2d 523, 1998 N.Y. Slip Op 01712 (N.Y., Feb 24, 1998) (NO. 21)
- 15.Stringfellow's of New York, Ltd. v. City of New York, 91 N.Y.2d 382, 694 N.E.2d 407, 671 N.Y.S.2d 406, 1998 N.Y. Slip Op. 01711 (N.Y., Feb 24, 1998) (NO. 17, 18, 19)
- 16.Matter of Sayeh R., 91 N.Y.2d 306, 693 N.E.2d 724, 670 N.Y.S.2d 377, 1997 N.Y. Slip Op. 11112 (N.Y., Dec 22, 1997) (NO. 217)
- 17.Johnson v. Pataki, 91 N.Y.2d 214, 691 N.E.2d 1002, 668 N.Y.S.2d 978, 1997 N.Y. Slip Op. 10227 (N.Y., Dec 04, 1997) (NO. 227, 228)
- 18.Dorst v. Pataki, 90 N.Y.2d 696, 687 N.E.2d 1348, 665 N.Y.S.2d 65, 1997 N.Y. Slip Op. 10098 (N.Y., Nov 20, 1997) (NO. 232)
- 19.New York State Employment Relations Bd. v. Christ the King Regional High School, 90 N.Y.2d 244, 682 N.E.2d 960, 660 N.Y.S.2d 359, 155 L.R.R.M. (BNA) 2632, 120 Ed. Law Rep. 226, 1997 N.Y. Slip Op. 05589 (N.Y., Jun 12, 1997) (NO. 104)
- 20.Homier Distributing Co., Inc. v. City of Albany, 90 N.Y.2d 153, 681 N.E.2d 390, 659 N.Y.S.2d 223, 65 USLW 2773, 1997 N.Y. Slip Op. 04467 (N.Y., May 13, 1997) (NO. 68)
- 21.People v. Tichenor, 89 N.Y.2d 769, 680 N.E.2d 606, 658 N.Y.S.2d 233, 1997 N.Y. Slip Op. 04432 (N.Y., May 08, 1997) (NO. 60)
- 22.Matter of Professional, Clerical, Technical Employees Ass'n (Buffalo Bd. of Educ.), 90 N.Y.2d 364, 683 N.E.2d 733, 660 N.Y.S.2d 827, 1997 N.Y. Slip Op. 04433 (N.Y., May 08, 1997) (NO. 64, 65)
- 23.Grumet v. Cuomo, 90 N.Y.2d 57, 681 N.E.2d 340, 659 N.Y.S.2d 173, 119 Ed. Law Rep.603, 1997 N.Y. Slip Op. 04300 (N.Y., May 06, 1997) (NO. 61) 24.Rogers v. New York City Transit Authority, 89 N.Y.2d 692, 680 N.E.2d 142, 657 N.Y.S.2d 871, 25 Media L. Rep. 1788, 1997 N.Y. Slip Op. 04257 (N.Y., May 01, 1997) (NO.67)
- 25.Lunding v. Tax Appeals Tribunal of State of N.Y., 89 N.Y.2d 283, 675 N.E.2d 816, 653 N.Y.S.2d 62, 65 USLW 2451 (N.Y., Dec 18, 1996) (NO. 260)

- 26.Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Cent. New York, Inc. v. McCall, 89 N.Y.2d 160, 674 N.E.2d 1124, 652 N.Y.S.2d 218 (N.Y., Nov 19, 1996) (NO. 254)
- 27.Ballentine v. Koch, 89 N.Y.2d 51, 674 N.E.2d 292, 651 N.Y.S.2d 362 (N.Y., Oct 22, 1996) (NO. 211)
- 28.People v. Knowles, 88 N.Y.2d 763, 673 N.E.2d 902, 650 N.Y.S.2d 617 (N.Y., Oct 22, 1996) (NO. 219)
- 29.Gagliardo v. Dinkins, 89 N.Y.2d 62, 674 N.E.2d 298, 651 N.Y.S.2d 368, 20 A.D.D. 439, 9 NDLR P 10 (N.Y., Oct 22, 1996) (NO. 210)
- 30.People v. Foy, 88 N.Y.2d 742, 673 N.E.2d 589, 650 N.Y.S.2d 79 (N.Y., Oct 17, 1996) (NO. 206)
- 31.Pringle v. Wolfe, 88 N.Y.2d 426, 668 N.E.2d 1376, 646 N.Y.S.2d 82 (N.Y., Jun 28, 1996) (NO. 166)
- 32.Griffin v. Coughlin, 88 N.Y.2d 674, 673 N.E.2d 98, 649 N.Y.S.2d 903, 65 USLW 2003 (N.Y., Jun 11, 1996) (NO. 73)
- 33.Goodwin v. Perales, 88 N.Y.2d 383, 669 N.E.2d 234, 646 N.Y.S.2d 300 (N.Y., Jun 06, 1996) (NO. 125)
- 34.People v. Payne, 88 N.Y.2d 172, 666 N.E.2d 542, 643 N.Y.S.2d 949 (N.Y., May 07, 1996) (NO. 85, 86, 87)
- 35.United Services Auto. Ass'n v. Curiale, 88 N.Y.2d 306, 668 N.E.2d 384, 645 N.Y.S.2d 413, 64 USLW 2705 (N.Y., Apr 30, 1996) (NO. 94)
- 36.Lee TT. v. Dowling, 87 N.Y.2d 699, 664 N.E.2d 1243, 642 N.Y.S.2d 181 (N.Y., Apr 04, 1996) (NO. 54, 55)
- 37.Archbishop Walsh High School v. Section VI of New York State Public High School Athletic Ass'n, Inc., 88 N.Y.2d 131, 666 N.E.2d 521, 643 N.Y.S.2d 928, 110 Ed. Law Rep. 350 (N.Y., Apr 02, 1996) (NO. 74)
- 38.Matter of Backal, 87 N.Y.2d 1, 660 N.E.2d 1104, 637 N.Y.S.2d 325 (N.Y., Nov 30, 1995) (NO. 283)
- 39.People v. Shack, 86 N.Y.2d 529, 658 N.E.2d 706, 634 N.Y.S.2d 660 (N.Y., Nov 02, 1995) (NO. 231)
- 40.Rochester Telephone Corp. v. Public Service Com'n of State of N.Y., 87 N.Y.2d 17, 660 N.E.2d 1112, 637 N.Y.S.2d 333, 166 P.U.R.4th 205 (N.Y., Oct 31, 1995) (NO. 233)
- 41.People v. Allen, 86 N.Y.2d 101, 653 N.E.2d 1173, 629 N.Y.S.2d 1003 (N.Y., Jul 06, 1995) (NO. 175)
- 42.City of New York v. State, 86 N.Y.2d 286, 655 N.E.2d 649, 631 N.Y.S.2d 553, 103 Ed. Law Rep. 1146 (N.Y., Jun 15, 1995) (NO. 117B)
- 43.Campaign for Fiscal Equity, Inc. v. State, 86 N.Y.2d 307, 655 N.E.2d 661, 631 N.Y.S.2d 565, 103 Ed. Law Rep. 1158 (N.Y., Jun 15, 1995) (NO. 117A)
- 44.Reform Educational Financing Inequities Today (R.E.F.I.T.) v. Cuomo, 86 N.Y.2d 279, 655 N.E.2d 647, 631 N.Y.S.2d 551, 103 Ed. Law Rep. 1144 (N.Y., Jun 15, 1995) (NO. 2)

- 45.Orvis Co., Inc. v. Tax Appeals Tribunal of State of N.Y., 86 N.Y.2d 165, 654 N.E.2d 954, 630 N.Y.S.2d 680, 64 USLW 2012 (N.Y., Jun 14, 1995) (NO. 138, 139, TSB-D-93(1.2)S, TSB-D-93(3.2)S)
- 46.Schulz v. State, 86 N.Y.2d 225, 654 N.E.2d 1226, 630 N.Y.S.2d 978, 103 Ed. Law Rep. 361 (N.Y., Jun 14, 1995) (NO. 133)
- 47.People v. Letterlough, 86 N.Y.2d 259, 655 N.E.2d 146, 631 N.Y.S.2d 105, 64 USLW 2022 (N.Y., Jun 13, 1995) (NO. 132)
- 48.Bourquin v. Cuomo, 85 N.Y.2d 781, 652 N.E.2d 171, 628 N.Y.S.2d 618 (N.Y., Jun 13, 1995) (NO. 61)
- 49.Wood v. Irving, 85 N.Y.2d 238, 647 N.E.2d 1332, 623 N.Y.S.2d 824 (N.Y., Feb 23, 1995) (NO. 231)
- 50.New York State Clinical Laboratory Ass'n, Inc. v. Kaladjian, 85 N.Y.2d 346, 649 N.E.2d 811, 625 N.Y.S.2d 463, Medicare and Medicaid Guide (C 43,072 (N.Y., Feb 23, 1995) (NO. 14)
- 51.People v. Farrell, 85 N.Y.2d 60, 647 N.E.2d 762, 623 N.Y.S.2d 550 (N.Y., Feb 16, 1995) (NO. 5/, 6/)

## Pennsylvania

- 1.Com. v. Gindlesperger, 560 Pa. 222, 743 A.2d 898 (Pa., Dec 22, 1999) (NO. 40 W.D. 1998)
- 2.Wertz v. Chapman Tp., 559 Pa. 630, 741 A.2d 1272, 81 Fair Empl.Prac.Cas. (BNA) 915 (Pa., Dec 21, 1999) (NO. 134 M.D. 1998)
- 3.Com. v. Fisher, 559 Pa. 558, 741 A.2d 1234 (Pa., Nov 24, 1999) (NO. 219 CAP. APP.)
- 4.Com. v. Carson, 559 Pa. 460, 741 A.2d 686 (Pa., Nov 18, 1999) (NO. 149)
- 5.Com. v. O'Donnell, 559 Pa. 320, 740 A.2d 198 (Pa., Oct 28, 1999) (NO. 71)
- 6.Com. v. Stevens, 559 Pa. 171, 739 A.2d 507 (Pa., Oct 27, 1999) (NO. 0229)
- 7.Com. v. Walker, 559 Pa. 285, 740 A.2d 180 (Pa., Oct 25, 1999) (NO. 30 E.D.1998)
- 8.Com. v. Holloway, 559 Pa. 258, 739 A.2d 1039 (Pa., Oct 01, 1999) (NO. 0191CAPITALAPPEAL)
- 9.Com. v. Lopez, 559 Pa. 131, 739 A.2d 485 (Pa., Oct 01, 1999) (NO. 185CAPITALAPPEAL)
- 10.Wilson Partners, L.P. v. Com., Bd. of Finance and Revenue, 558 Pa. 462, 737 A.2d 1215 (Pa., Oct 01, 1999) (NO. 48 MD 1999, 49 MD 1999)
- 11.Marrero ex rel. Tabalas v. Com., 559 Pa. 14, 739 A.2d 110, 139 Ed. Law Rep. 533 (Pa., Oct 01, 1999) (NO. 31 MD 1998, 32 MD 1998)
- 12.Com. v. Koehler, 558 Pa. 334, 737 A.2d 225 (Pa., Sep 02, 1999) (NO. 214)
- 13.COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA, Appellee v. JOHN JOSEPH KOEHLER, Appellant, --- A.2d ----, 1999 WL 688131 (Pa., Sep 07, 1999) (NO. NO. 214 CAPITAL APPE)
- 14.Com. v. Cleckley, 558 Pa. 517, 738 A.2d 427 (Pa., Aug 23, 1999) (NO. 53 W.D. 1998)

- 15.Com. v. Chmiel, 558 Pa. 478, 738 A.2d 406 (Pa., Aug 19, 1999) (NO. 162 CAPITAL APPEAL)
- 16.Com. v. Hill, 558 Pa. 238, 736 A.2d 578 (Pa., Aug 17, 1999) (NO. 32 E.D. 1998, 104 M.D.1998)
- 17.Philadelphia Fraternal Order of Correctional Officers v. Rendell, 558 Pa. 229, 736 A.2d 573, 162 L.R.R.M. (BNA) 2052 (Pa., Jul 23, 1999) (NO. 159 M.D. 1997)
- 18.Com. v. Williams, 557 Pa. 285, 733 A.2d 593, 78 A.L.R.5th 731 (Pa., Jun 30, 1999) (NO. 0014 W.D.ALLOC. 1998, 0084 W.D.ALLOC. 1997)
- 19.Com. v. Ardestani, --- A.2d ----, 1999 WL 455703 (Pa., Jun 29, 1999) (NO. 0002 W.D.1997, 0036 W.D. 1997)
- 20.Com. v. Ardestani, 558 Pa. 191, 736 A.2d 552 (Pa., Jun 29, 1999) (NO. 0002 W.D. 1997, 0036 W.D. 1997)
- 21.PPG Industries, Inc. v. Com., Bd. of Finance and Revenue, --- A.2d ----, 1999 WL 396902 (Pa., Jun 17, 1999) (NO. 87 M.D. 1996)
- 22.Bergdoll v. Kane, 557 Pa. 72, 731 A.2d 1261 (Pa., Jun 15, 1999) (NO. 55 M.D. 1997)
- 23.Denbow v. Borough of Leetsdale, 556 Pa. 567, 729 A.2d 1113, 139 Lab.Cas. P 58,707 (Pa., Jun 08, 1999) (NO. 7 W.D.1998)
- 24.Com. v. Williams, 557 Pa. 207, 732 A.2d 1167 (Pa., Jun 04, 1999) (NO. 193)
- 25.Haller v. Com., Dept. of Revenue, 556 Pa. 289, 728 A.2d 351 (Pa., Apr 21, 1999) (NO. 0049 M.D. 1997)
- 26.Com. v. Johnson, 556 Pa. 216, 727 A.2d 1089 (Pa., Mar 26, 1999) (NO. 0206 PHIL 1997)
- 27.In re F.B., 555 Pa. 661, 726 A.2d 361, 133 Ed. Law Rep. 528 (Pa., Mar 02, 1999) (NO. 64 E.D. 1995)
- 28.Com. v. Blystone, 555 Pa. 565, 725 A.2d 1197 (Pa., Feb 26, 1999) (NO. 136)
- 29.Com. v. Cross, 555 Pa. 603, 726 A.2d 333 (Pa., Feb 25, 1999) (NO. 179)
- 30.Rogers v. Pennsylvania Bd. of Probation and Parole, 555 Pa. 285, 724 A.2d 319 (Pa., Jan 22, 1999) (NO. 0009 M.D. 1997, 0010 M.D. 1997, 0008 M.D. 1997)
- 31.COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA, Appellant v. RICHARD KELLY, Appellee \_\_\_\_\_\_ COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA, Appellant v. EDWARD DOMES, Appellant, --- A.2d ----, 1999 WL 21447 (Pa., Jan 21, 1999) (NO. NO. 4 W.D. APPEAL DO, NO. 5 W.D. APPEAL DO)
- 32.Com. v. Hendrickson, 555 Pa. 277, 724 A.2d 315 (Pa., Jan 21, 1999) (NO. 73 W.D. 1997,74 W.D. 1997, 75 W.D. 1997)
- 33.Com. v. Kelly, 555 Pa. 382, 724 A.2d 909 (Pa., Jan 21, 1999) (NO. 4 W.D. 1997, 5 W.D.1997)
- 34.Parsowith v. Com., Dept. of Revenue, 555 Pa. 200, 723 A.2d 659 (Pa., Jan 21, 1999) (NO. 172 M.D. 1997)
- 35.Smith v. Coyne, 555 Pa. 21, 722 A.2d 1022 (Pa., Jan 19, 1999) (NO. 0094 W.D. 1997, 0096 W.D. 1997, 0097 W.D. 1997)
- 36.Small v. Horn, 554 Pa. 600, 722 A.2d 664 (Pa., Dec 23, 1998) (NO. 79 M.D. 1998)

- 37.Com. v. Peterkin, 554 Pa. 547, 722 A.2d 638 (Pa., Dec 21, 1998) (NO. 0165)
- 38.Com. v. Rompilla, 554 Pa. 378, 721 A.2d 786 (Pa., Dec 10, 1998) (NO. 152)
- 39.Com. v. King, 554 Pa. 331, 721 A.2d 763 (Pa., Dec 02, 1998) (NO. 105, 106)
- 40.Yurgosky v. Com., Administrative Office of Pennsylvania Courts, 554 Pa. 533, 722 A.2d 631 (Pa., Nov 24, 1998) (NO. 142 M.D. 1997)
- 41.COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA, Appellee v. DANIEL GWYNN, Appellant, 1998 WL 807938 (Pa., Nov 24, 1998) (NO. NO. 129 CAPITAL APPE)
- 42.Com. v. Albrecht, 554 Pa. 31, 720 A.2d 693 (Pa., Nov 23, 1998) (NO. 138)
- 43.Com. v. Gwynn, 555 Pa. 86, 723 A.2d 143 (Pa., Nov 23, 1998) (NO. 129 CAPITAL APPEAL)
- 44.Com. v. Abu-Jamal, 553 Pa. 485, 720 A.2d 79 (Pa., Oct 29, 1998) (NO. 119 CAP. APP. DKT.)
- 45.Pap's A.M. v. City of Erie, 553 Pa. 348, 719 A.2d 273 (Pa., Oct 21, 1998) (NO. 016 W.D. 1997, 017 W.D. 1997)
- 46.Stilp v. Hafer, 553 Pa. 128, 718 A.2d 290 (Pa., Oct 01, 1998) (NO. 169 M.D. 1997)
- 47.Com. v. Vega, 553 Pa. 255, 719 A.2d 227 (Pa., Oct 01, 1998) (NO. 126 M.D. 1997)
- 48.Com. v. Crews, 552 Pa. 659, 717 A.2d 487 (Pa., Aug 20, 1998) (NO. 196)
- 49.Com. v. Hawkins, 553 Pa. 76, 718 A.2d 265 (Pa., Aug 19, 1998) (NO. 91 W.D1997)
- 50.Com. v. Priovolos, 552 Pa. 364, 715 A.2d 420 (Pa., Jul 23, 1998) (NO. 139 M.D. 1997)
- 51.Adams Sanitation Co., Inc. v. Com., Dept. of Environmental Protection, 552 Pa. 304, 715 A.2d 390, 47 ERC 1439 (Pa., Jul 21, 1998) (NO. 0044 E.D. 1997)
- 52.Unionville-Chadds Ford School Dist. v. Chester County Bd. of Assessment Appeals, 552 Pa. 212, 714 A.2d 397 (Pa., Jul 20, 1998) (NO. 135 M.D. 1997)
- 53.Com. v. Lesko, 553 Pa. 233, 719 A.2d 217 (Pa., May 21, 1998) (NO. 144)
- 54.Com. v. Snyder, 552 Pa. 44, 713 A.2d 596 (Pa., May 19, 1998) (NO. 0070 M.D. 1996)
- 55.Petition of Berg, 552 Pa. 126, 713 A.2d 1106 (Pa., May 11, 1998) (NO. 39 M.D. 1998, J-86-1998)
- 56.City of Harrisburg v. School Dist. of City of Harrisburg, 551 Pa. 295, 710 A.2d
- 49.126 Ed. Law Rep. 252 (Pa., Apr 06, 1998) (NO. 177 M.D. 1996)
- 57.Com. v. Clark, 551 Pa. 258, 710 A.2d 31 (Pa., Apr 02, 1998) (NO. 92 CAP.APP., J-6-1997)
- 58.Parsonese v. Midland Nat. Ins. Co., 550 Pa. 423, 706 A.2d 814 (Pa., Jan 20, 1998) (NO. 64 E.D. 1996)
- 59.Com. v. Cass, 551 Pa. 25, 709 A.2d 350, 125 Ed. Law Rep. 705 (Pa., Jan 07, 1998) (NO. 12 W.D. 1996)
- 60.Nicholson v. Combs, 550 Pa. 23, 703 A.2d 407 (Pa., Nov 14, 1997) (NO. 0017 E.D. 1995)
- 61.Com. v. Stern, 549 Pa. 505, 701 A.2d 568 (Pa., Oct 30, 1997) (NO. 45 E.D. 1995, 43 E.D. 1995, 44 E.D. 1995)
- 62.Brinkley v. King, 549 Pa. 241, 701 A.2d 176 (Pa., Sep 17, 1997) (NO. 15 W.D. 1996)

- 63.Scott v. Pennsylvania Bd. of Probation and Parole, 548 Pa. 418, 698 A.2d 32 (Pa., Jul 03, 1997) (NO. 66 M.D. 1996)
- 64.Bible v. Com., Dept. of Labor and Industry, 548 Pa. 247, 696 A.2d 1149 (Pa., Jun 13, 1997) (NO. 65 M.D. 1995, 73 M.D. 1995, 69 M.D. 1995, 71 M.D. 1995)
- 65.Com. v. Smith, 548 Pa. 65, 694 A.2d 1086 (Pa., May 20, 1997) (NO. 115)
- 66.Cherry v. City of Philadelphia, 547 Pa. 679, 692 A.2d 1082 (Pa., Apr 23, 1997) (NO. 96 E.D. 1994)
- 67.Appeal of Torbik, 548 Pa. 230, 696 A.2d 1141 (Pa., Apr 11, 1997) (NO. 0196 M.D. 1996)
- 68.Com. v. Wingait Farms, 547 Pa. 332, 690 A.2d 222 (Pa., Feb 26, 1997) (NO. 81 E.D. 1995)
- 69.Com. v. Marinelli, 547 Pa. 294, 690 A.2d 203 (Pa., Feb 25, 1997) (NO. 117)
- 70.In re Avellino, 547 Pa. 385, 690 A.2d 1138 (Pa., Feb 07, 1997) (NO. 2 E.D. 1997)
- 71.Pennsylvania State Police, Bureau of Liquor Control Enforcement v. Hospitality Investments of Philadelphia, Inc., 547 Pa. 142, 689 A.2d 213 (Pa., Feb 06, 1997) (NO. 77 E.D. 1992)
- 72.Com. v. Appel, 547 Pa. 171, 689 A.2d 891 (Pa., Jan 28, 1997) (NO. 112)
- 73.Com. v. Gibson, 547 Pa. 71, 688 A.2d 1152 (Pa., Jan 22, 1997) (NO. 113 C.A.)
- 74.In re Hasay, 546 Pa. 481, 686 A.2d 809 (Pa., Dec 24, 1996) (NO. 81 M.D. 1995)
- 75.Com. v. Chambers, 546 Pa. 370, 685 A.2d 96 (Pa., Nov 20, 1996) (NO. 93 C.D.)
- 76.Blackwell v. City of Philadelphia, 546 Pa. 358, 684 A.2d 1068 (Pa., Nov 14, 1996) (NO. 66 E.D.1995)
- 77.Empire Sanitary Landfill, Inc. v. Com., Dept. of Environmental Resources, 546 Pa. 315, 684 A.2d 1047 (Pa., Nov 01, 1996) (NO. 70 M.D. 1994, 66 M.D. 1994, 69 M.D. 1994)
- 78.Com. Dept. of Transp., Bureau of Driver Licensing v. Clayton, 546 Pa. 342, 684 A.2d 1060, 9 NDLR P 79 (Pa., Nov 01, 1996) (NO. 78 W.D. 1994)
- 79.Com. v. Morris, 546 Pa. 296, 684 A.2d 1037 (Pa., Oct 30, 1996) (NO. 0094 C.A.)
- 80.Ken R. on Behalf of C.R. v. Arthur Z., 546 Pa. 49, 682 A.2d 1267 (Pa., Oct 04, 1996) (NO. 45 M.D. 1995)
- 81.Court of Common Pleas of Erie County (6th Judicial Dist.), Juvenile Probation Dept. v. Pennsylvania Human Relations Com'n, 546 Pa. 4, 682 A.2d 1246 (Pa., Sep 17, 1996) (NO. 42 W.D. 1995)
- 82.Com. v. Gordon, 546 Pa. 65, 683 A.2d 253 (Pa., Sep 16, 1996) (NO. 0060 E.D. 1995)
- 83.Com. v. duPont, 545 Pa. 564, 681 A.2d 1328 (Pa., Aug 19, 1996) (NO. 81 E.D. 1996, 96 E.D. 1996, 89 E.D. 1996, 91 E.D. 1996)
- 84.Com. v. Barud, 545 Pa. 297, 681 A.2d 162, 65 USLW 2159 (Pa., Jul 30, 1996) (NO. 64 W.D. 1994)
- 85.Com. ex rel. Nicholas v. Pennsylvania Labor Relations Bd., 545 Pa. 288, 681 A.2d 157 (Pa., Jul 29, 1996) (NO. 40 E.D. 1993)
- 86.Pennsylvania State Ass'n of County Com'rs v. Com., 545 Pa. 324, 681 A.2d 699 (Pa., Jul 26, 1996) (NO. 112 W.D. 1992)

- 87.Com. v. Stock, 545 Pa. 13, 679 A.2d 760 (Pa., Jun 26, 1996) (NO. 89 M.D. APP 1995)
- 88. Public Advocate v. Philadelphia Gas Com'n, 544 Pa. 129, 674 A.2d 1056, Util. L. Rep. P 26,532 (Pa., Apr 22, 1996) (NO. 98 E.D. 1994)
- 89.Com. v. Hayes, 544 Pa. 46, 674 A.2d 677 (Pa., Apr 17, 1996) (NO. 5 E.D. 1995)
- 90.Com. v. Davis, 543 Pa. 628, 674 A.2d 214 (Pa., Mar 28, 1996) (NO. 32E.D.1995)
- 91.Andrezjwski v. Borough of Millvale, 543 Pa. 539, 673 A.2d 879 (Pa., Mar 28, 1996) (NO. 30W.D.1995)
- 92.Com. v. White, 543 Pa. 45, 669 A.2d 896 (Pa., Dec 29, 1995) (NO. 31 W.D. 1993)
- 93.Com. v. Burnsworth, 543 Pa. 18, 669 A.2d 883 (Pa., Dec 27, 1995) (NO. 54 W.D. 1994)
- 94.In re Petition to Recall Reese, 542 Pa. 114, 665 A.2d 1162 (Pa., Oct 17, 1995) (NO. 18 E.D. 1995)
- 95.Curtis v. Kline, 542 Pa. 249, 666 A.2d 265 (Pa., Oct 10, 1995) (NO. 6 E.D. 1994) 96.Com. v. Bricker, 542 Pa. 234, 666 A.2d 257 (Pa., Sep 29, 1995) (NO. 83 M.D.APP. 1994)
- 97.Com., ex rel. Jiuliante v. County of Erie, 540 Pa. 376, 657 A.2d 1245 (Pa., May 15, 1995) (NO. 11 W.D. 1994)
- 98.In Interest of J.J., 540 Pa. 274, 656 A.2d 1355 (Pa., Apr 18, 1995) (NO. 65 E.D. 1993)
- 99.Com. v. Cull, 540 Pa. 161, 656 A.2d 476 (Pa., Mar 28, 1995) (NO. 32 E.D. 1993)
- 100.Magazine Publishers of America v. Com., Dept. of Revenue, 539 Pa. 563, 654 A.2d 519, 63 USLW 2485, 23 Media L. Rep. 1337 (Pa., Jan 18, 1995) (NO. 119 M.D. 1992)
- 101.Com. v. Bond, 539 Pa. 299, 652 A.2d 308 (Pa., Jan 12, 1995) (NO. 49 CAPITAL APPEAL)

## **South Carolina**

- 1.State v. Missouri, 337 S.C. 548, 524 S.E.2d 394 (S.C., Dec 06, 1999) (NO. 25031)
- 2. Whaley v. Dorchester County Zoning Bd. of Appeals, 337 S.C. 568, 524 S.E.2d 404 (S.C., Dec 06, 1999) (NO. 25029)
- 3.Arnold v. Association of Citadel Men, 337 S.C. 265, 523 S.E.2d 757 (S.C., Nov 15, 1999) (NO. 25014)
- 4.Joytime Distributors and Amusement Co., Inc. v. State, 338 S.C. 634, 528 S.E.2d 647 (S.C., Oct 14, 1999) (NO. 25007)
- 5.Al-Shabazz v. State, 338 S.C. 354, 527 S.E.2d 742 (S.C., Feb 14, 2000) (NO. 24995)
- K. Const., Inc. v. Western Carolina Regional Sewer Authority, 336 S.C. 162, 519 S.E.2d 561 (S.C., Aug 02, 1999) (NO. 24981)
- 7. Abbeville County School Dist. v. State, 335 S.C. 58, 515 S.E.2d 535, 135 Ed. Law Rep. 833 (S.C., Apr 22, 1999) (NO. 24939)

- 8.Henry v. Horry County, 334 S.C. 461, 514 S.E.2d 122 (S.C., Mar 01, 1999) (NO. 24911)
- **9.Hooper v. Rockwell, 334 S.C. 281, 513 S.E.2d 358 (S.C., Feb 22, 1999) (NO. 24907)** 10.State v. Short, 333 S.C. 473, 511 S.E.2d 358 (S.C., Jan 18, 1999) (NO. 24879)
- 11.Barnhill v. City of North Myrtle Beach, 333 S.C. 482, 511 S.E.2d 361 (S.C., Jan 18, 1999) (NO. 24881)
- 12.Garris v. Governing Bd. of South Carolina Reinsurance Facility, 333 S.C. 432, 511 S.E.2d 48 (S.C., Dec 29, 1998) (NO. 24871)
- 13.Holtzscheiter v. Thomson Newspapers, Inc., 332 S.C. 502, 506 S.E.2d 497, 26 Media L. Rep. 2537 (S.C., Sep 22, 1998) (NO. 24842)
- 14.State-Record Co., Inc. v. State, 332 S.C. 346, 504 S.E.2d 592, 27 Media L. Rep. 1193 (S.C., Aug 31, 1998) (NO. 24831)
- 15.Bibco Corp. v. City of Sumter, 332 S.C. 45, 504 S.E.2d 112 (S.C., Jul 27, 1998) (NO. 24825)
- 16.State v. Powers, 331 S.C. 37, 501 S.E.2d 116 (S.C., Jun 08, 1998) (NO. 24804)
- 17.Drummond v. Beasley, 331 S.C. 559, 503 S.E.2d 455 (S.C., Jun 02, 1998) (NO. 24798)
- 18.Payton v. Kearse, 329 S.C. 51, 495 S.E.2d 205 (S.C., Jan 12, 1998) (NO. 24740)
- 19.Butler v. Town of Edgefield, 328 S.C. 238, 493 S.E.2d 838 (S.C., Dec 01, 1997) (NO. 24717)
- 20.Weaver v. Recreation Dist., 328 S.C. 83, 492 S.E.2d 79 (S.C., Oct 13, 1997) (NO. 24696)
- 21.Rivers v. State, 327 S.C. 271, 490 S.E.2d 261 (S.C., Sep 02, 1997) (NO. 24682)
- 22.Whitner v. State, 328 S.C. 1, 492 S.E.2d 777, 70 A.L.R.5th 723 (S.C., Jul 15, 1997) (NO. 24468)
- 23.Townsend v. City of Dillon, 326 S.C. 244, 486 S.E.2d 95 (S.C., Jun 02, 1997) (NO. 24624)
- 24.State v. Hornsby, 326 S.C. 121, 484 S.E.2d 869 (S.C., Apr 28, 1997) (NO. 24610)
- 25.Hagley Homeowners Ass'n, Inc. v. Hagley Water, Sewer, and Fire Authority, 326 S.C. 67, 485 S.E.2d 92 (S.C., Apr 14, 1997) (NO. 24599)
- 26.State v. Bouye, 325 S.C. 260, 484 S.E.2d 461 (S.C., Feb 18, 1997) (NO. 24577)
- 27.Town of Hilton Head Island v. Morris, 324 S.C. 30, 484 S.E.2d 104 (S.C., Apr 07, 1997) (NO. 24575)
- 28.State ex rel. Carter v. State, 325 S.C. 204, 481 S.E.2d 429 (S.C., Feb 03, 1997) (NO. 24570)
- 29.Newman v. Richland County Historic Preservation Com'n, 325 S.C. 79, 480 S.E.2d 72 (S.C., Jan 13, 1997) (NO. 24547)
- 30.Martin v. Condon, 324 S.C. 183, 478 S.E.2d 272 (S.C., Nov 04, 1996) (NO. 24518)
- 31.St. Andrews Public Service Dist. v. Moseley, 323 S.C. 389, 475 S.E.2d 750 (S.C., Aug 12, 1996) (NO. 24476)
- 32.Thomas v. Cooper River Park, 322 S.C. 32, 471 S.E.2d 170 (S.C., May 20, 1996) (NO. 24430)

- 33.Alston v. City of Camden, 322 S.C. 38, 471 S.E.2d 174, 11 IER Cases 1337 (S.C., May 20, 1996) (NO. 24431)
- 34.Brown v. Evatt, 322 S.C. 189, 470 S.E.2d 848 (S.C., May 13, 1996) (NO. 24425)
- 35.Bradley v. Cherokee School Dist. No. One of Cherokee County, 322 S.C. 181, 470 S.E.2d 570, 109 Ed. Law Rep. 981 (S.C., May 02, 1996) (NO. 24421)
- 36.State v. Adams, 322 S.C. 114, 470 S.E.2d 366 (S.C., Apr 29, 1996) (NO. 24420)
- 37.Keyserling v. Beasley, 322 S.C. 83, 470 S.E.2d 100 (S.C., Apr 22, 1996) (NO. 24415)
- 38. Waters v. South Carolina Land Resources Conservation Com'n, 321 S.C. 219, 467 S.E.2d 913 (S.C., Mar 04, 1996) (NO. 24377)
- 39. Hospitality Ass'n of South Carolina, Inc. v. County of Charleston, 320 S.C. 219, 464 S.E.2d 113 (S.C., Nov 13, 1995) (NO. 24346)
- 40. Williams v. Morris, 320 S.C. 196, 464 S.E.2d 97 (S.C., Nov 06, 1995) (NO. 24345)
- 41.Westvaco Corp. v. South Carolina Dept. of Revenue, 321 S.C. 59, 467 S.E.2d 739 (S.C., Nov 06, 1995) (NO. 24341)

### Tennessee

- 1.Van Tran v. State, 6 S.W.3d 257 (Tenn., Nov 23, 1999) (NO. W199800175SCR11PD)
- 2.Doe v. Sundquist, 2 S.W.3d 919 (Tenn., Sep 27, 1999) (NO. 01-S-01-9901-CV00006)
- 3.State v. Bondurant, 4 S.W.3d 662 (Tenn., Sep 07, 1999) (NO. 01S019804CC00064)
- 4.State v. Middlebrooks, 995 S.W.2d 550 (Tenn., Jul 06, 1999) (NO. 01S01-9802-CR-00017)
- 5. Taylor v. State, 995 S.W.2d 78 (Tenn., Jun 21, 1999) (NO. 02S01-9806-CR-00054)
- 6.Wright v. State, 987 S.W.2d 26 (Tenn., Feb 01, 1999) (NO. 01-S-01-9709CR-00196)
- 7.Helms v. Tennessee Dept. of Safety, 987 S.W.2d 545 (Tenn., Jan 25, 1999) (NO. 01S01-9709-CH-00185)
- 8.DeLaney v. Thompson, 982 S.W.2d 857 (Tenn., Dec 21, 1998) (NO. 01S01-9808-CH-00144)
- 9.State v. Burns, 979 S.W.2d 276 (Tenn., Nov 09, 1998) (NO. 02-S-01-9708-CR00073)
- 10.State v. Williams, 977 S.W.2d 101 (Tenn., Sep 21, 1998) (NO.
  - 03-S-01-9706-CR-0006)
- 11.State ex rel. Earhart v. City of Bristol, 970 S.W.2d 948 (Tenn., Jun 22, 1998) (NO. 03S01-9709-CH-00116)
- 12.State v. Blanton, 975 S.W.2d 269 (Tenn., Jun 15, 1998) (NO. 01S01-9605-CC-00093)
- 13.Finister v. Humboldt General Hosp., Inc., 970 S.W.2d 435 (Tenn., May 26, 1998) (NO. 02S01-9704-CH-00038)
- 14.State v. Muse, 967 S.W.2d 764 (Tenn., Apr 05, 1998) (NO. 03S01-9703-CC-00030)
- 15.Evans v. Steelman, 970 S.W.2d 431 (Tenn., Mar 30, 1998) (NO. 01S01-9701-JV-00019, 01S01-9703-CV-00046)

- 16.State v. Cauthern, 967 S.W.2d 726 (Tenn., Mar 23, 1998) (NO. 02S01-9612-CC-00108)
- 17.State v. Bridges, 963 S.W.2d 487 (Tenn., Dec 31, 1997) (NO. 02S01-9606-CC-00053)
- 18.State v. Phipps, 959 S.W.2d 538 (Tenn., Dec 22, 1997) (NO. 02S01-9607-CC-00068)
- 19.State v. Hall, 958 S.W.2d 679 (Tenn., Dec 15, 1997) (NO. 03-S01-9701-CR-00010)
- 20.Tennessee Mun. League v. Thompson, 958 S.W.2d 333 (Tenn., Dec 10, 1997) (NO. 01S01-9711-CH-00242)
- 21.State v. Mann, 959 S.W.2d 503 (Tenn., Dec 08, 1997) (NO. 02-S01-9609-CC-00077)
- 22.State v. Yeargan, 958 S.W.2d 626 (Tenn., Nov 24, 1997) (NO. 01S01-9604-CC-00080)
- 23.Carter v. State, 958 S.W.2d 620 (Tenn., Oct 20, 1997) (NO. 03-S01-9612-CR-00119)
- 24.Bean v. McWherter, 953 S.W.2d 197 (Tenn., Sep 08, 1997) (NO. 01S01-9607-CH-00132)
- 25.Steele v. Industrial Development Bd. of the Metropolitan Government of Nashville and Davidson County, 950 S.W.2d 345, 120 Ed. Law Rep. 860 (Tenn., Aug 25, 1997) (NO. 01S01-9607-FD-00136)
- 26.State v. Martin, 950 S.W.2d 20 (Tenn., Jun 09, 1997) (NO. 03S01-9604-CR-00040)
- 27.State v. Bush, 942 S.W.2d 489 (Tenn., Apr 07, 1997) (NO. 03S01-9604-CC-00047)
- 28.Riggs v. Burson, 941 S.W.2d 44 (Tenn., Mar 10, 1997) (NO. 03S01-9603-CV-00032)
- 29.State v. Smoky Mountain Secrets, Inc., 937 S.W.2d 905 (Tenn., Oct 28, 1996) (NO. 02S01-9509-CH-00084)
- 30.Vogel v. Wells Fargo Guard Services, 937 S.W.2d 856 (Tenn., Oct 07, 1996) (NO. 03S01-9601-CV-00005)
- 31.State v. Odom, 928 S.W.2d 18 (Tenn., Jun 03, 1996) (NO.02-S-01-9502-CR00014)
- 32.Meighan v. U.S. Sprint Communications Co., 924 S.W.2d 632 (Tenn., Apr 29, 1996) (NO. 03S01-9502-CV-00014)
- 33.Caldwell v. State, 917 S.W.2d 662 (Tenn., Feb 20, 1996) (NO. 02S01-9505-CC-00044)
- 34. Woodson v. Porter Brown Limestone Co., Inc., 916 S.W.2d 896, 64 USLW 2569 (Tenn., Feb 14, 1996) (NO. 01S01-9411-CV-00149)
- 35.Richardson v. Tennessee Bd. of Dentistry, 913 S.W.2d 446 (Tenn., Dec 28, 1995) (NO. 01S01-9502-CH-00027)
- 36.Brown v. Campbell County Bd. of Educ., 915 S.W.2d 407, 7 NDLR P 452 (Tenn., Dec 28, 1995) (NO. 03S01-9412-CH-00121)
- 37.State ex rel. Newsom v. Biggers, 911 S.W.2d 715 (Tenn., Nov 20, 1995) (NO. 02S01-9408-CC-00054)
- 38.House v. State, 911 S.W.2d 705 (Tenn., Sep 25, 1995) (NO. 03-S-01-9407CR00069)
- 39.Bankston v. State, 908 S.W.2d 194 (Tenn., Sep 25, 1995) (NO. 03S01-9409-CR-00089)
- 40.State v. Hines, 919 S.W.2d 573 (Tenn., Sep 05, 1995) (NO. 01-S-01-9303-CC00052)

- 41.Watkins v. State, 903 S.W.2d 302 (Tenn., Jul 03, 1995) (NO. 02S01-9405-CR-00016)
- 42.Sands v. State, 903 S.W.2d 297 (Tenn., Jun 26, 1995) (NO. 03S01-9411-CR-00116)
- 43.Simmons v. Simmons, 900 S.W.2d 682 (Tenn., May 30, 1995) (NO. 03S01-9406-CV-00052)
- 44.State v. Patty, 922 S.W.2d 102 (Tenn., Apr 03, 1995) (NO. 03-S-01-9312-CR00076) 45.Porterfield v. State, 897 S.W.2d 672 (Tenn., Feb 21, 1995) (NO. 02S01-9209CR-00061, 02S01-9312CR-00081)
- 46.Tennessee Small School Systems v. McWherter, 894 S.W.2d 734, 98 Ed. Law Rep. 1102 (Tenn., Feb 16, 1995) (NO. 01S01-9404-CH-00040)

#### Wisconsin

- 1.State v. Mendoza, 227 Wis.2d 838, 596 N.W.2d 736 (Wis., Jul 08, 1999) (NO. 97-0952-CR)
- 2.State v. Kiernan, 227 Wis.2d 736, 596 N.W.2d 760 (Wis., Jul 08, 1999) (NO. 97-2449-CR)
- 3.In re Commitment of Kienitz, 227 Wis.2d 423, 597 N.W.2d 712 (Wis., Jul 02, 1999) (NO. 97-1460)
- 4.Riccitelli v. Broekhuizen, 227 Wis.2d 100, 595 N.W.2d 392, 135 Ed. Law Rep. 817 (Wis., Jun 24, 1999) (NO. 98-0329-FT)
- 5.City of Sun Prairie v. Davis, 226 Wis.2d 738, 595 N.W.2d 635 (Wis., Jun 18, 1999) (NO. 97-1651)
- 6.State v. Horn, 226 Wis.2d 637, 594 N.W.2d 772 (Wis., Jun 11, 1999) (NO. 97-2751-CR)
- 7.State v. Agnello, 226 Wis.2d 164, 593 N.W.2d 427 (Wis., May 20, 1999) (NO. 96-3406-CR)
- 8.Arneson v. Jezwinski, 225 Wis.2d 371, 592 N.W.2d 606, 134 Ed. Law Rep. 336, 15 IER Cases 48 (Wis., May 05, 1999) (NO. 95-1592)
- 9.State v. Zarnke, 224 Wis.2d 116, 589 N.W.2d 370 (Wis., Feb 26, 1999) (NO. 97-1664-CR)
- 10.County of Kenosha v. C & S Management, Inc., 223 Wis.2d 373, 588 N.W.2d 236 (Wis., Jan 22, 1999) (NO. 97-0642)
- 11.In Interest of Hezzie R., 219 Wis.2d 848, 220 Wis.2d 360, 580 N.W.2d 660 (Wis., Jul 03, 1998) (NO. 97-0676, 97-0685, 97-1109)
- 12.State ex rel. Warren v. Schwarz, 219 Wis.2d 615, 579 N.W.2d 698 (Wis., Jul 01, 1998) (NO. 97-0851, 96-2441)
- 13.State v. Ferron, 219 Wis.2d 481, 579 N.W.2d 654 (Wis., Jun 26, 1998) (NO. 96-3425-CR)
- 14.State v. Janssen, 219 Wis.2d 362, 580 N.W.2d 260 (Wis., Jun 25, 1998) (NO. 97-1316-CR)
- 15.State v. Hansford, 219 Wis.2d 226, 580 N.W.2d 171 (Wis., Jun 19, 1998) (NO. 97-0885-CR)

- 16.Lounge Management, Ltd. v. Town of Trenton, 219 Wis.2d 13, 580 N.W.2d 156 (Wis.,Jun 18, 1998) (NO. 96-1853)
- 17.Jackson v. Benson, 218 Wis.2d 835, 578 N.W.2d 602, 126 Ed. Law Rep. 399 (Wis., Jun 10, 1998) (NO. 97-0270)
- 18.State v. Hobson, 218 Wis.2d 350, 577 N.W.2d 825 (Wis., May 27, 1998) (NO. 96-0914-CR)
- 19.Castellani v. Bailey, 218 Wis.2d 245, 578 N.W.2d 166 (Wis., May 22, 1998) (NO. 95-2733)
- 20.State v. Phillips, 218 Wis.2d 180, 577 N.W.2d 794 (Wis., May 22, 1998) (NO. 95-2912-CR)
- 21.State v. Konrath, 218 Wis.2d 290, 577 N.W.2d 601 (Wis., May 22, 1998) (NO. 96-1261-CR)
- 22.State v. Lechner, 217 Wis.2d 392, 576 N.W.2d 912 (Wis., Apr 30, 1998) (NO. 96-2830-CR)
- 23.State v. Jackson, 216 Wis.2d 646, 575 N.W.2d 475 (Wis., Mar 20, 1998) (NO. 96-1618-CR)
- 24.Flynn v. Department of Admin., 216 Wis.2d 521, 576 N.W.2d 245 (Wis., Mar 13, 1998) (NO. 96-3266)
- 25.Penterman v. Wisconsin Elec. Power Co., 211 Wis.2d 458, 565 N.W.2d 521 (Wis., Jul 02, 1997) (NO. 96-0164)
- 26.Norquist v. Zeuske, 211 Wis.2d 241, 564 N.W.2d 748 (Wis., Jun 25, 1997) (NO. 96-1812-OA)
- 27.Estate of Makos by Makos v. Wisconsin Masons Health Care Fund, 211 Wis.2d 41, 564 N.W.2d 662 (Wis., Jun 20, 1997) (NO. 96-0174)
- 28.State v. Ramos, 211 Wis.2d 12, 564 N.W.2d 328 (Wis., Jun 20, 1997) (NO. 94-3036-CR)
- 29.State v. Caban, 210 Wis.2d 597, 563 N.W.2d 501 (Wis., Jun 12, 1997) (NO. 94-1015-CR)
- 30.L.L.N. v. Clauder, 209 Wis.2d 674, 563 N.W.2d 434, 65 USLW 2774 (Wis., May 23, 1997) (NO. 95-2084)
- 31.Hoepker v. City of Madison Plan Com'n, 209 Wis.2d 633, 563 N.W.2d 145 (Wis., May 16, 1997) (NO. 95-2013)
- 32.Jadair Inc. v. U.S. Fire Ins. Co., 209 Wis.2d 187, 562 N.W.2d 401 (Wis., Apr 29, 1997) (NO. 95-1946)
- 33.LaCrosse Queen, Inc. v. Wisconsin Dept. of Revenue, 208 Wis.2d 439, 561 N.W.2d 686 (Wis., Apr 18, 1997) (NO. 95-2754)
- 34.State v. Hall, 207 Wis.2d 54, 557 N.W.2d 778 (Wis., Jan 24, 1997) (NO. 94-2848-CR)
- 35.State v. Hicks, 207 Wis.2d 51, 557 N.W.2d 412 (Wis., Jan 24, 1997) (NO. 94-2542-CR)
- 36.Wisconsin Retired Teachers Ass'n, Inc. v. Employe Trust Funds Bd., 207 Wis.2d 1, 558 N.W.2d 83, 116 Ed. Law Rep. 1203 (Wis., Jan 17, 1997) (NO. 94-0712)
- 37.State v. Harris, 206 Wis.2d 243, 557 N.W.2d 245 (Wis., Dec 27, 1996) (NO.

- 95-1595-CR, 95-1596-CR)
- 38.State v. McMaster, 206 Wis.2d 30, 556 N.W.2d 673 (Wis., Dec 13, 1996) (NO. 95-1159-CR)
- 39.State v. Lohmeier, 205 Wis.2d 183, 556 N.W.2d 90 (Wis., Nov 29, 1996) (NO. 94-2187-CR)
- 40.State v. Miller, 202 Wis.2d 56, 549 N.W.2d 235, 65 USLW 2005 (Wis., Jun 19, 1996) (NO. 94-0159)
- 41.Joni B. v. State, 202 Wis.2d 1, 549 N.W.2d 411 (Wis., Jun 13, 1996) (NO. 95-2757-OA, 95-2758-OA)
- 42.State v. Andrews, 201 Wis.2d 383, 549 N.W.2d 210, 64 USLW 2805, 51 A.L.R.5th 833 (Wis., Jun 04, 1996) (NO. 94-1888-CR)
- 43.Libertarian Party of Wisconsin v. State, 199 Wis.2d 790, 546 N.W.2d 424 (Wis., Apr 09, 1996) (NO. 95-3114-OA)
- 44.State v. Cummings, 199 Wis.2d 721, 546 N.W.2d 406 (Wis., Apr 01, 1996) (NO. 93-2445-CR, 94-0218-CR)
- 45.Thompson v. Craney, 199 Wis.2d 674, 546 N.W.2d 123, 108 Ed. Law Rep. 904 (Wis., Mar 29, 1996) (NO. 95-2168-OA)
- 46.State ex rel. Thompson v. Jackson, 199 Wis.2d 714, 546 N.W.2d 140 (Wis., Mar 29, 1996) (NO. 95-2153-OA)
- 47.Association of State Prosecutors v. Milwaukee County, 199 Wis.2d 549, 544 N.W.2d 888 (Wis., Mar 13, 1996) (NO. 93-3329)
- 48.Brandmiller v. Arreola, 199 Wis.2d 528, 544 N.W.2d 894, 64 USLW 2598 (Wis., Mar 13, 1996) (NO. 93-2842)
- 49.State v. Akins, 198 Wis.2d 495, 544 N.W.2d 392 (Wis., Feb 01, 1996) (NO. 94-1872-CR)
- 50.State v. Post, 197 Wis.2d 279, 541 N.W.2d 115 (Wis., Dec 08, 1995) (NO. 94-2356, 94-2357)
- 51.State v. Carpenter, 197 Wis.2d 252, 541 N.W.2d 105, 64 USLW 2479 (Wis., Dec 08, 1995) (NO. 94-1898, 94-2024)
- 52.Citizens Utility Bd. v. Klauser, 194 Wis.2d 484, 534 N.W.2d 608 (Wis., Jun 30, 1995) (NO. 94-1519-OA)
- 53.Brown County Sheriff's Dept. v. Brown County Sheriff's Dept. Non-Supervisory Employees Ass'n, 194 Wis.2d 265, 533 N.W.2d 766, 150 L.R.R.M. (BNA) 2380 (Wis., Jun 26, 1995) (NO. 93-1959)
- 54.City of Milwaukee v. Kilgore, 193 Wis.2d 168, 532 N.W.2d 690 (Wis., Jun 07, 1995) (NO. 92-0949)
- 55.Doering v. WEA Ins. Group, 193 Wis.2d 118, 532 N.W.2d 432 (Wis., May 31, 1995) (NO. 93-3386)
- 56.State v. Kiper, 193 Wis.2d 69, 532 N.W.2d 698 (Wis., May 24, 1995) (NO. 93-2997-CR)
- 57.State v. Avila, 192 Wis.2d 870, 532 N.W.2d 423 (Wis., May 11, 1995) (NO. 93-2794-CR)

- 58.State v. Randall, 192 Wis.2d 800, 532 N.W.2d 94, 63 USLW 2771 (Wis., May 10, 1995) (NO. 93-0219-CR)
- 59.Martin by Scoptur v. Richards, 192 Wis.2d 156, 531 N.W.2d 70 (Wis., May 04, 1995) (NO. 87-CV-257, 88-CV-465, 91-0016)
- 60.State ex rel. Friedrich v. Circuit Court for Dane County, 192 Wis.2d 1, 531 N.W.2d 32 (Wis., Apr 18, 1995) (NO. 94-2095-W, 94-2637-W)